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Purpose of the Report

The Annual Report highlights the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment’s key achievements against outcomes and assesses 
performance against outputs.

It also provides the Northern Territory Legislative Assembly with an 
account of performance against the approved budget as published 
in the 2006-2007 Budget Paper No.3. In addition, the Office of the 
Commissioner for Public Employment is responsible for giving an 
account of the performance of the Northern Territory Public Sector 
in the State of the Service Report (with Statistical Supplement) in a 
separate report.

Published by the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment.

© Northern Territory Government of Australia, 2007

Apart from any use permitted under the Australian Copyright Act, 
no part of this document may be reproduced without prior written 
permission from the Northern Territory Government through the Office 
of the Commissioner for Public Employment.

ISSN 1323-2894

Enquiries should be made to:
The Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment
GPO Box 4371
Darwin NT 0801

Telephone:  (08) 8999 4282
Facsimile:  (08) 8999 4186
Email:   ocpe@nt.gov.au
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Dear Minister Henderson
 
RE: THE OCPE ANNUAL REPORT 2006-2007
 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 28 of the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act, I am pleased to submit the Annual Report on the activities and achievements 
of the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment (OCPE) for the year ending 
30 June 2007.

In doing so, I advise that in respect of my responsibilities as the accountable officer pursuant 
to Section 13 of the Financial Management Act and to the best of my knowledge and belief, the 
system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that:

proper records of all transactions affecting the OCPE are kept and that employees within my  
 responsibility observe the provisions of this Act, the Regulations and the Treasurer’s  
 Directions 

procedures within the OCPE ensure that at all times a proper control over expenditure,  
 receipts and public property is afforded.

In accordance with Section 15 of the Financial Management Act the internal audit capacity 
available to the OCPE is adequate. No indication of fraud, malpractice, major breach of 
legislation or delegation, major error in or omission from accounts and records exists.

In my opinion the financial accounts included in this Annual Report have been prepared from 
proper accounts in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions.

All Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment pursuant to 
Section 16 of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act have been complied with to 
the best of my knowledge.

In accordance with Section 131(2) of the Information Act (NT), I advise that the preliminary 
requirements set by the Northern Territory Archives Service have been complied with and the 
OCPE is continuing to work towards achieving full compliance with Part 9 of the Act.

I consider that the OCPE obligations under the Carers Recognition Act and NT Carers Charter 
have been satisfied.

Yours sincerely

KEN SIMPSON
Commissioner for Public Employment
28 September 2007

•

•

Letter to the Minister
The Hon. Paul Henderson MLA
Minister for Public Employment
GPO Box 3146
DARWIN NT 0801



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment4

Introduction
and Overview

Introduction and 
Overview

Part 1



5Annual Report 2006-2007

The purpose of this report is to fulfil my 
statutory responsibility to report to the Minister 
for Public Employment on the activities of 
the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OCPE) in 2006-2007. The report 
is also designed to inform stakeholders on 
how well the OCPE has performed against its 
objectives, to summarise major initiatives and 
achievements made throughout the year and 
to foreshadow some of the challenges and 
priorities that lie ahead.

Our focus for 2006-2007 was dominated by:

a heavy workload of enterprise agreement  
 negotiation, which will extend into 2007- 
 2008

recognition that in response to the ageing  
 Northern Territory Public Sector (NTPS) 
 workforce and the skills shortage we  
 needed to develop a strategic Human  
 Resources (HR) plan and an approach to  
 workforce planning for the whole sector

a review of the priorities of agencies that  
 soon will be reflected in our strategic plan

the review of the Indigenous Employment  
 and Career Development Strategy 2002- 
 2006 that will continue into 2007-2008

the first year of operation of the NT  
 Workplace Advocate to provide assistance  
 to private sector employers and employees  
 to promote best HR practice 

•

•

•

•

•

a NTPS leadership development framework 
 for introduction in 2007-2008.

Specific achievements of note for the OCPE in 
2006-2007 included:

ongoing implementation of the NTPS  
 Remote Workforce Development Strategy,  
 with $1 million provided in development  
 activities for remote employees

negotiation of workplace agreements for  
 nurses, Darwin Port Corporation general  
 staff, marine pilots and dentists

introduction of the Conflict of Interest Policy 
 and a Declaration of Private Financial and  
 Other Interests statement for Chief  
 Executive Officers and other relevant staff

free career planning workshops during the  
 2007 Youth Week

introduction of enhanced Northern  
 Territory Government and Public Authorities  
 Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS) 
 products including spouse accounts,   
 member investment choice, continuation of  
 membership and allocated pensions

the Inaugural Chief Minister’s Awards for 
 Excellence in Public Sector Management,  
 held in Alice Springs

advice to private sector employers and  
 employees through the NT Workplace  
 Advocate.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Commissioner’s Foreword



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment6

Strategic issues that the OCPE will face in 
2007-2008 include: 

negotiating new NTPS workplace  
 agreements in line with the NTPS Wages  
 Policy

continuing implementation of initiatives 
 outlined in the Office of the Commissioner  
 for Public Employment’s Strategic Plan  
 2005-2010, in particular a strategic HR Plan  
 and Approach to Workforce Planning  
 for the NTPS

implementing and evaluating policies and  
 practices that emphasise equity, diversity  
 and work life balance 

•

•

•

developing, implementing and monitoring  
 strategies to improve employment and  
 career development outcomes for  
 Indigenous people in the NTPS

continuing to monitor and assess the  
 implications of the WorkChoices legislation,  
 and developing and implementing  
 appropriate responses for both public and  
 private sectors. 

I would like to acknowledge the hard work 
and commitment undertaken by the staff 
and management team of the OCPE. Their 
dedication is commendable and I look forward 
to working with them in the year ahead.

Ken Simpson
Commissioner for Public Employment
28 September 2007
 

•

•
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About Us
The Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OCPE) is a central agency within 
the Northern Territory Public Sector (NTPS) 
with sector-wide responsibility for providing an 
effective employment framework to manage 
and develop the NTPS workforce.

The Commissioner for Public Employment is 
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and, under 
Section 12 of the Public Sector Employment 
and Management Act (PSEMA), is deemed to 
be the employer of all employees in the NTPS.

Role and Function
The primary role of the OCPE is to support 
the Commissioner for Public Employment’s 
statutory role, as defined in the PSEMA. The 
Commissioner is also required to provide 
strategic and policy advice to support the 
Minister for Public Employment in achieving 
the Minister’s duties under the Act.

The OCPE has principal responsibility to the 
Northern Territory Government for public sector 
management and industrial relations. 

The OCPE identifies emerging issues and 
provides a strategic focus for collaborative 
partnerships with CEOs on developing a 
dynamic, highly skilled and motivated
public sector.

The roles and functions of the OCPE are to: 

support the Commissioner’s statutory role,  
 as defined in the PSEMA

provide sound and timely advice to  
 government on all aspects of human  
 resource issues affecting the NTPS

support CEOs and their agencies to  
 develop relevant human resource  
 management policies and practices

advise CEOs on the implementation of   
 policies and practices

represent the interests of the government  
 in workplace agreement negotiations,  
 industrial disputes and industrial tribunal  
 hearings as the statutory employer

coordinate sector-wide, targeted training  
 and leadership development programs

resolve employee grievances through  
 appropriate review and appeal mechanisms

identify emerging issues and provide a  
 strategic focus for collaborative  
 partnerships with CEOs

provide leadership and guidance in the  
 above matters across the public sector.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

About the Office
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The Administrative Arrangements Order gives 
the OCPE principal responsibility for the 
following areas of government administration:

• public sector

• industrial relations

• public and private employment strategies.

Acts
The OCPE is responsible for the following Acts:

Public Sector Employment and    
 Management Act

Public Sector Employment and  
 Management Act (Transition and Savings) 

Public Sector Employment (Interim   
 Arrangements) Act

Public Employment (Mobility) Act

Prisons (Arbitral Tribunal) Act

Police Administration Act (Part III)

Annual Leave Act

Long Service Leave Act

Public Holidays Act

Construction Industry Long Service Leave 
 and Benefits Act.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Key External Influences
Key external influences that affect the 
operations of the OCPE are:

community expectations and government  
 policy on employment and workforce  
 development initiatives – to acquit the  
 government’s responsibility as the largest  
 employer in the NT

the Australian Government’s industrial  
 relations system and reform agenda – as  
 the Northern Territory ‘Self Government’ Act  
 did not establish a Northern Territory  
 industrial relations system.

•

•

Administrative 
Arrangements Order
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Under Section 13 of the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act (PSEMA), 
the OCPE fulfils the role of employer by 
establishing policy and practice frameworks 
for the management of all public sector 
employees. This is achieved through the 
defined functions of the Commissioner to:

determine the designations and other terms 
 and conditions (including the remuneration)  
 of employees

subject to the PSEMA, promote, uphold  
 and ensure adherence to the merit principle  
 in the selection, promotion and transfer of  
 employees

determine practices and procedures  
 relating to the recruitment and appointment  
 of staff, as well as promotion transfer,  
 secondment, redeployment, discipline  
 and termination of employees and any  
 other matters relating to human resource  
 management

•

•

•

consult with and advise Chief Executive  
 Officers (CEOs) on developing and  
 applying appropriate human resource  
 practices and procedures in their agencies

consult with CEOs on the application of  
 public employment policies in their  
 agencies

advise the Minister and monitor the  
 implementation of public employment  
 policies

develop uniform systems, standards and  
 procedures to determine designations and  
 the allocation of employees in agencies and  
 help CEOs apply these systems, standards  
 and procedures

assist CEOs to evaluate the performance of  
 staff in their agencies

coordinate training, education and  
 development in conjunction with CEOs

conduct or initiate reviews of the  
 management practices of agencies

consult with CEOs on appropriate  
 standards and occupational health and  
 safety programs

assist CEOs perform their management  
 functions

perform other tasks as directed by the  
 Minister under the PSEMA or any other Act.

 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Functions of the Commissioner
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Our Vision
A skilled, unbiased and creative public sector 
that provides the highest quality service to the 
people of the Northern Territory.

Our Mission
Leading and coordinating the development of 
a skilled, committed and strategically aligned 
workforce to achieve quality innovative 
government services for the Northern Territory 
community.

We will do this by:

collaborating with the Northern Territory  
 Public Sector (NTPS) Chief Executive  
 Officers (CEOs) and Human Resource (HR)  
 Managers to build a creative and innovative  
 workforce - skilled to meet the needs of the  
 future

taking a leadership role in the identification  
 of strategic shifts, trends and contemporary  
 public sector workforce practice

coordinating activity across agencies to  
 ensure an integrated, whole of government  
 approach.

The success of our workforce strategies 
relies on the NTPS’s commitment to being 
an employer of choice for our valued 
employees. It also requires all NTPS agencies 
to maintain a skilled public sector workforce 
that understands and is aligned to achieving 
agency goals and objectives.

•

•

•

Our Values
In dealing with our clients and stakeholders 
our actions are based on: 

respect and consideration

shared ethics, professionalism and  
 accountability

encouragement and support for innovation

continuous learning and sharing of  
 knowledge

fairness, equity and diversity.

The OCPE’s vision, mission statement 
and values, along with our statutory 
responsibilities, are critical in defining and 
guiding our work. 
 

•

•

•

•

•

The OCPE’s Strategic Plan
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Operational Structure

Business Units Budget Output Main Activities

Ken Simpson 
Commissioner 
for Public 
Employment

Brian Mappas 
Director 
Employee 
Relations

Output 1:
Employment 
Framework

Strategic public and private sector  
 industrial relations

Strategic HR policy and advice

NT employment framework

Executive contract of employment  
 arrangements

Administration for Commissioner’s  
 statutory powers

Central management of redeployment  
 and redundancy 

Job evaluation policy and training

International Labour Organisation

Workforce statistics and analysis

Discipline/Inability Appeal Board  
 secretariat 

Labour Inspectorate

Prison Officers and Police Tribunal  
 secretariat

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Danielle Cross 
Director 
Strategic 
Workforce 
Planning and 
Development

Output 2:
Workforce 
Development

Leadership development programs 

Organisational reviews 

Human resource development policy and  
 advice 

Capability and succession planning 

Indigenous Employment and Career  
 Development Strategy

Research

•

•

•

•

•

•

The OCPE consists of six business units (as depicted below) that deliver outputs as contained in 
NT Budget Paper No.3. 

Promotion appeals and reviews are delivered by an independent body- the Promotions Appeal 
Board and Review (PAB&R). For administrative purposes, the PAB&R is located within the OCPE’s 
organisational structure. The physical location of PAB&R is on the ground floor of the Harbour View 
Plaza building. The Senior Consultant Central Australia is located in Alice Springs, with the other 
Business Units on the fourth floor, Harbour View Plaza.
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Business Units Budget Output Main Activities

Ken Simpson 
Commissioner 
for Public 
Employment

Erika Sauzier
Senior 
Consultant
Central 
Australia

Output 1:
Employment 
Framework

Strategic HR advice

Regional redeployment and  
 redundancy function 

Promotion appeals and grievances 

Labour Inspectorate 

Help implement government  
 policies

•

•

•

•

•

Lee Berryman
Director 
Promotions 
Appeal Board 
and Review

Output 1:
Employment 
Framework

Promotion Appeals 

Section 59 Reviews 

•

•

Justin Larkin
Workplace 
Advocate

Output 1:
Employment 
Framework

Advice to private sector  
 employers and employees
•

Michael 
Leonard 
Director 
Corporate 
Management

OCPE personnel services 

Staff development 

Financial and budget management 

Office services 

Records and Information Management 

Websites 

Communications and marketing 

Information Technology (IT) environment 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
All business 
areas

Output 3:
Government 
Policy Advice

Industrial Relations

Public sector employment

Whole of industry workforce  
 policy coordination

•

•

•
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A ‘Revive and Refocus’ Forum for remote  
 Indigenous Northern Territory Public Sector  
 (NTPS) employees was held for North East  
 Arnhem. There were 29 Yolngu participants:  
 three health workers, one interpreter  
 and several Department of Employment,  
 Education and Training (DEET) attendees.

Four workplace agreements were    
 negotiated for nurses, Darwin Port  
 Corporation general staff, marine pilots and  
 dentists.

$1 million of professional development  
 assistance was provided through the NTPS  
 Remote Workforce Development Strategy.

Enhanced Northern Territory Government  
 and Public Authorities Superannuation  
 Scheme (NTGPASS) products were  
 introduced including spouse accounts,  
 member investment choice, continuation of  
 membership and allocated pensions. 

A panel contract was established to provide  
 Executive Coaching. The panel contract  
 can be used by all NTPS agencies.

A Conflict of Interest Policy and Declaration  
 of Private Financial and Other Interests  
 statement were introduced for Chief  
 Executive Officers and other relevant staff.  
 

•

•

•

•

•

•

Significant assistance was provided to the  
 Institute of Public Administration Australia in  
 running its 2006 National Conference in  
 Alice Springs.

The OCPE assisted corporate management  
 staff of Tourism NT move to the Department  
 of Business, Economic and Regional  
 Development.

The inaugural Chief Minister’s Awards for  
 Excellence in Public Sector Management  
 was held in Alice Springs.

Free death and invalidity cover was  
 introduced for employees in choice of fund  
 superannuation schemes.

Free career planning workshops were held  
 during the 2007 Youth Week.

 

•

•

•

•

•

Key Achievements 2006-2007
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Performance 
Reporting

Part 2

Performance
Reporting
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Overview
The Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OCPE) develops and 
manages employment policies and provides 
employment services that ensure merit, equity 
and fairness and the application of legislative 
requirements. This includes the effective, 
efficient and unbiased management of 
appeals and reviews of employee treatment, 
occupational health and safety, employee 
conduct, redeployment, industrial claims and 
disputes and executive employment.

The OCPE has responsibility for: 

strategic public sector and private sector 
 industrial relations

strategic public sector human resource  
 management policy

Northern Territory Public Sector (NTPS)   
 employment framework

industrial relations and employee relations  
 advice

executive contract of employment   
 arrangements

job evaluation policy and training

Labour Inspectorate – for Long Service 
 Leave Act, Public Holidays Act, Annual 
 Leave Act, and Construction Industry  
 Long Service Leave and Benefits Act 2005

Northern Territory Government input to 
 International Labour Organisation  
 (ILO) matters

workforce statistics and analysis

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

central management of public sector  
 redeployment and redundancy

Promotions Appeal Board and Review  
 (PAB&R)

secretariat services to Disciplinary/Inability 
 Appeal Boards

secretariat services to the Police Arbitral 
 Tribunal and the Prison Officers Arbitral  
 Tribunal.

The Employee Relations Business Unit and 
the PAB&R work together on the following 
outputs to provide an effective employment 
framework. However, the PAB&R performance 
is reported as a separate section at page 26.

Merit and Equity 
The merit principle is the fundamental tenet of 
public sector human resource management. 

In its broader sense, merit based selection 
is central to apolitical public sector 
accountability. Merit based selection ensures 
that employees providing services to the 
Northern Territory community have the 
appropriate knowledge, skills and levels of 
responsibility to do their jobs.

Founded on the stated principles of merit, 
natural justice, human resource management 
and conduct, merit based selection processes 
also ensure that selection is transparent, fair 
and objective.

•

•

•

•

Output 1: Employment Framework
Employee Relations and Promotions Appeal Board and Review
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Ethical Standards
In ensuring an effective employment 
framework for the NTPS, a range of initiatives 
has been developed to emphasise the ethical 
standards expected of all employees. In 
particular, all NTPS employees are bound by: 

Public Sector Employment and  
 Management Regulation No.2 – Principles  
 of Public Administration and Management

Regulation No.4 – Principles of Conduct

Employment Instruction No.13 – Code of  
 Conduct (the Code).

The Code (Section 12) requires, inter alia, that:

“….. Employees shall disclose in writing to 
the Chief Executive Officer any financial or 
other interests held by them immediately 
upon becoming aware that a potential conflict 
between personal interest and official duty, 
whether real or apparent, has risen or is likely 
to arise.”

During the reporting period Employee 
Relations consultants have provided advice to 
agencies and individuals on the application of 
the principles and code.

•

•

•

In December 2006 Cabinet approved:

a sector-wide Conflict of Interest Policy

introduction of a Declaration of Private  
 Financial and Other Interests statement  
 for annual completion by all Chief Executive  
 Officers (CEOs).

The Conflict of Interest Policy and CEO 
declaration have been implemented across 
the NTPS.

In accordance with the policy, CEOs are 
responsible for establishing reporting 
processes commensurate with the role of the 
agency, including deciding which executive 
officers and employees are required to 
complete declarations.

Occupational Health and Safety

Public Sector Consultative Council 
Occupational Health and Safety 
Sub-committee
In negotiations for the Northern Territory 
Public Sector 2004 – 2007 Certified 
Agreement, all parties to the agreement 
committed to achieving a healthy and 
safe work environment through an NTPS 
Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) 
framework.

Development of a sector-wide OH&S 
framework accords with the National 
Occupational Health and Safety Strategy 
2002 – 2012 and its work-related fatality and 
injury reduction targets, which have been 
endorsed by all Australian States 
and Territories.

•

•
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An OH&S sub-committee of the Public Sector 
Consultative Council (PSCC), comprising 
management and union representatives, is 
responsible for ensuring the NTPS OH&S 
framework includes strategies to meet the 
national OH&S strategy fatality and injury 
reduction targets. 

A central feature of the framework is the 
introduction of appropriately trained health and 
safety representatives in all agencies. Their 
primary function will be to identify health and 
safety concerns in workplaces and work with 
agency managers to minimise any OH&S risks 
to employees.

A draft framework was finalised in late June 
2006 for consideration by Unions NT and 
Northern Territory Government agencies prior 
to submission to the PSCC for approval.

As a separate exercise, Cabinet directed the 
Department of Employment, Education and 
Training (DEET) to review the Work Health 
Act. This was completed in mid 2007 and is 
currently being considered by government.

Pandemic Influenza Planning
In late 2005, Cabinet established a Northern 
Territory Pandemic Influenza Planning 
Committee to develop strategies to minimise 
the effect of a pandemic influenza outbreak 
in the Northern Territory. The Committee’s 
members are drawn from key agencies, 
with the Departments of the Chief Minister 
and Health and Community Services having 
dual responsibility for cross government 
coordination.

The OCPE is responsible for providing advice 
and guidance relating to employment and 
industrial relations matters. 

To date the major activity has been the ‘health’ 
response to a pandemic. The OCPE expects 
to finish a comprehensive response to public 
sector employment related matters in the next 
reporting period.

Workforce Management 

Advisory Services
A major role of Employee Relations is to 
provide specialised Human Resources (HR) 
consultancy services to agencies, employees 
and members of the public. This includes 
interpretation of the employment framework, 
conditions of service, recruitment and 
selection, reviews and appeals, industrial 
relations, job evaluation, redeployment and 
redundancy and discipline and inability 
matters. Employee Relations also advised 
members of the public on the application of 
NT employment legislation, such as the Long 
Service Leave Act, Annual Leave Act, and 
Public Holidays Act.
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Industrial Relations Services
Employee Relations provides industrial 
relations services to government and 
agencies including strategic advice and policy, 
negotiation of workplace agreements, award 
management and administration, dispute 
resolution and employer representation in all 
industrial tribunals. Employee Relations also 
provides strategic private sector industrial 
relations advice to government.

Implement Certified 
and Workplace Agreements 
The OCPE continued its role in the ongoing 
reform and improvement of employment 
arrangements for agencies and employees 
through NTPS certified and workplace 
agreements. The agreements provide a 
legislative mechanism for reviewing and 
implementing changes to employment 
conditions and working arrangements across 
the sector. The OCPE provides a whole of 
government perspective on the review process 
ensuring that outcomes are consistent with 
government policy and general best practice. 
Outcomes of reviews undertaken in the past 
year include:

Implementation of the Nursing Career  
 Structure Review by the Department  
 of Health and Community Services in  
 conjunction with the Australian Nursing  
 Federation. The review introduced new   
 career paths for nurses in the NTPS and  
 a work value review of senior  
 nursing jobs.

•

Development of a draft whole of  
 government NTPS Occupational Health  
 and Safety (OH&S) Framework in  
 conjunction with agencies and Unions NT.  
 The framework will introduce health and  
 safety representatives and a stronger  
 training focus for OH&S across the sector.

NTPS employees living and working in  
 remote areas of the Northern Territory  
 provide frontline services under difficult  
 circumstances. The Remote Localities  
 Working Party provides an ongoing review  
 process for remote employment conditions,  
 ensuring the NTPS continues to provide  
 appropriate support for these employees.

Work value assessments of physical and  
 technical classification jobs across the  
 sector resulted in the reclassification of  
 jobs and, in many cases, the promotion of  
 employees.

Free death and invalidity cover for  
 employees was introduced for choice of  
 fund superannuation schemes.

Further information about certified and 
workplace agreements can be found at pages 
38 and 39.

•

•

•

•
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Industrial Representation 
and Dispute Resolution
The Commissioner for Public Employment 
is the statutory employer of all Public 
Sector Employment and Management Act 
employees. As the statutory employer, the 
Commissioner is a party to all industrial 
awards and agreements and any industrial 
dispute arising in relation to them. 

If an industrial dispute arises, it is usual for 
the parties to first endeavour to resolve the 
matter through direct negotiation between 
the relevant union, the agency and the 
Commissioner.
 
If the dispute cannot be resolved at this 
level, any party may refer the matter to the 
Australian Industrial Relations Commission 
(AIRC), the Police Arbitral Tribunal or Prison 
Officer Arbitral Tribunal. The Employee 
Relations officers then appear before 
the relevant tribunal on behalf of the 
Commissioner.

Some examples of disputes resolved by direct 
negotiation, without tribunal intervention, are 
matters involving:

the medical retirement of a long-term  
 employee

changes to the Darwin Bus Service roster

the classification of dental therapists.

Some examples of disputes in which 
Employee Relations appeared before
tribunals include: 

•

•

•

an application before the AIRC for a secret  
 ballot and threatened industrial action by  
 NTPS nurses

applications before the AIRC in relation to  
 alleged unfair dismissals

an application before the AIRC in relation to  
 the transfer of former Tourism NT  
 employees to the Department of Business  
 Economic and Regional Development

a matter before the Police Arbitral Tribunal  
 in relation to the standard of housing for  
 police officers.

Provide Tribunal Secretariat Services 
The Police Arbitral Tribunal and the Prison 
Officers Arbitral Tribunal are established under 
Northern Territory legislation and carry out 
functions similar to the Australian Industrial 
Relations Commission (AIRC). Employee 
Relations staff have been appointed to provide 
a secretariat service to these tribunals.

During 2006-2007 one new case was referred 
to the Police Arbitral Tribunal and a long-
standing 2005-2006 case continued with 
several report back hearings in 2006-2007. 

In September 2006, Mr Greg Shanahan, the 
Minister’s nominee, resigned his appointment 
to the Police Arbitral Tribunal. The new 
nominee, Mr Theo Tsikouris, was appointed on 
8 December 2006 for three years. Mr Tsikouris 
is the Registrar of NT Build.

No matter was referred to the Prison Officers 
Arbitral Tribunal during 2006-2007.

•

•

•

•
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Human Resources Monitoring, 
Evaluating and Reporting

Executive Contract Management 
Executive Contract Officers (ECO) in the 
NTPS are employed under contract for 
up to four years. The use of contracts 
for executives provides flexibility in both 
employment and remuneration. These 
arrangements are balanced by an increased 
focus on performance and accountability. The 
performance requirement is contained in the 
employment contract and is a formal annual 
review.

Executive Officer Capabilities for NTPS 
executives describe the characteristics of 
successful leaders in the NTPS and promote 
the values and personal attributes that 
underpin them.

A range of employment conditions are 
included in the contract of employment 
such as remuneration, leave entitlements, 
superannuation and the private use of a motor 
vehicle. There have been several changes 
in recent years to ECO provisions such as 
remote conditions and salary sacrifice into 
superannuation. 

As from 1 July 2007, ECOs in the NTPS 
who are in a choice of fund superannuation 
scheme will be entitled to free death and 
invalidity cover. 

Remote Locality Working Conditions
The Public Sector Consultative Council 
(PSCC) Remote Localities Working Party, 
consisting of management and union 
representatives, remains the most appropriate 
forum for addressing issues affecting remote 
employees.

The Working Party met in late 2006 to 
consider matters such as:

reportable Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT)  
 implications for the freight subsidy on  
 household goods

housing standards in remote localities

including more localities in remote  
 categories

better informing remote employees of their  
 employment conditions. 
 
Remote locality employment conditions 
are implemented by a Commissioner’s 
Determination (No. 2 of 2003), which was 
varied during the reporting period to include 
an additional locality in the special category. 
The working party continues to assess 
amendments and variations to remote locality 
provisions under the Determination, as 
required. 
 
The electricity subsidy for employees in 
remote categories, introduced through 
the general NTPS agreement in 2004, 
was extended to other NTPS employees 
through their individual workplace agreement 
provisions. Improvements in housing 
provisions were also extended through the 

•

•

•

•
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agreement process with an increase to 100 
per cent rental subsidy for all nurses residing 
in departmental accommodation in remote 
localities.

Review Employee Relations 
Developments in Other Jurisdictions
The OCPE monitors developments in public 
sector management across Australia. During 
the reporting period representatives from the 
OCPE attended or contributed to:

Public Service Commissioners’ Conference

National Public Sector Industrial Relations  
 Directors’ Forum

Private Sector Senior Officers’ Industrial  
 Relations Forum. 
 
The major changes to the industrial relations 
landscape across Australia have required 
the OCPE to develop strong links with 
our interstate counterparts, ensuring that 
legal and other developments are closely 
monitored. The increasing competitiveness 
of the labour market, and the requirement for 
all employers to maintain competitive salaries 
and conditions, necessitates regular sharing 
of information on market conditions and inter-
jurisdictional issues. 

•

•

•

Australian Government Workplace 
Relations Reform 
Much of the work undertaken by Employee 
Relations over the past financial year related 
to monitoring, evaluating and reporting on 
reforms to the Federal workplace relations 
regime under the Australian Government’s 
WorkChoices amendments.

WorkChoices came into effect on 27 March 
2006, however subsequent amendments to 
the Workplace Relations Act and Regulations, 
many involving complex and difficult 
provisions, have created a considerable 
workload in interpreting and applying the 
federal laws and in ensuring that the NTPS 
complies with federal requirements on 
procedural matters (such as record keeping) 
and terms and conditions of employment.

In addition, the Northern Territory 
Government’s response to WorkChoices has 
increased the time spent on industrial policy 
matters, and providing information and advice 
on NTPS employment. More information on 
these matters is provided on pages 24 and 40. 

Job Evaluation System
The Mercer Cullen Egan Dell Job Evaluation 
System (JES) implemented in 1991 remains 
the primary means of assessing work value 
and job classification across the NTPS. 

Initially, the JES applied only in the 
administrative, professional and technical 
streams (including executive levels). However, 
since 1991 other streams have been added, 
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including uniformed police, executive 
teachers, nurses, and Power and Water 
Corporation employees (Bands 1-4). The 
OCPE is responsible for policy matters and 
training, including liaison with Mercer human 
resource consultants - proprietary owners 
of JES. The Department of Corporate and 
Information Services (DCIS) is responsible for 
day to day operation of the system and JES 
administration.

The licensing agreement with Mercer requires 
that its consultants undertake regular audits 
to assess how effectively JES is applied in 
the NTPS. Normally audits are conducted 
annually. However, the 2003-2004 audit 
funding was allocated to a comprehensive 
review by Mercer of both the general NTPS 
JES Manual and the Nurses Work Evaluation 
Manual. The reviews were conducted to 
ensure the currency and accuracy of JES 
evaluations.

As a consequence of the reviews, the June 
2006 audit covered a two-year period (2003-
2004 and 2004-2005). This audit involved 
more extensive consultation with agencies 
and other stakeholder groups including:

JES evaluators in Darwin and Alice Springs

union representatives

JES trainers

DCIS JES Unit.

•

•

•

•

In summary, the 2003-2005 audit found:

the JES process has integrity and remains  
 a robust and sound tool with which to  
 accurately assess relative work value and  
 classifications in the NTPS

the methodology across the NTPS remains  
 effective. 
 
However, a number of stakeholders expressed 
concern at the time needed to prepare Job 
Analysis Questionnaires (JAQ) and the 
growing prevalence of “benchmarking” within 
and across agencies.

In response to the first concern, Mercer has 
agreed to revise the general JAQ template 
to develop a simplified version for lower level 
jobs.

To address the second concern, Mercer 
advises that benchmarking involves applying 
the evaluation profile and points score of 
a “benchmark” job to other jobs based on 
commonality of duties and accountabilities. 
Rather than continue the current ad hoc 
arrangement, Mercer has proposed a more 
standardised process, with appropriate 
controls to be implemented next year.

Mercer is also reviewing the How to Write a 
JAQ booklet. When produced, the booklet 
will be distributed to agencies together with 
a short training course on how to write an 
effective JAQ. The JAQ form, booklet and 
presentation will be finalised in the 2007-2008 
financial year.

The JES Information Booklet and promotional 
flyer have been extensively revised and 
updated and are being printed.

•

•
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During the last audit Mercer identified the 
need for more accredited JES trainers. In 
addition to accrediting two trainers in June 
2006, another two experienced evaluators are 
expected to be accredited as trainers in the 
next six months. 

Statutory Obligations Fulfilled
 
Approval of Selection Without 
Advertising Under 30(1)(B) of 
the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act
The merit principle is a fundamental tenet 
of the NT Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act. Merit based selection is 
the norm across the public sector, however 
Section 30(1)(b) of the Act provides for 
selection to a vacancy without advertising in 
certain circumstances.

In 2006-2007, the OCPE received 153 
submissions from agencies requesting 
selection without advertising. Of these, nine 
were not approved.

While this was a significant increase from the 
53 requests received in 2005-2006 this was 
due primarily to the review and reclassification 
of technical positions in accordance with 
Clause 54.2.2 of the Northern Territory Public 
Sector 2004-2007 Certified Agreement (49), 
the Department of Corporate and Information 
Services’ (DCIS) review of payroll positions 
(26), and the Department of Employment, 
Education and Training’s (DEET) review of the 
Student Administration Management System 
Database Administrators (16). 

Labour Inspectorate 
The OCPE administered the Public Holidays 
Act, the Annual Leave Act and the Long 
Service Leave Act, which provide long service 
and public holiday entitlements to NTPS 
workers.

The Labour Inspectorate regularly responded 
to queries and provided advice to employees 
and employers relating to these Acts. In 
addition, OCPE staff investigated seven 
alleged breaches of the Long Service Leave 
Act and two alleged breaches of the Annual 
Leave Act. There were no alleged breaches of 
the Public Holidays Act.

After changes to the federal Workplace 
Relations Act in March 2006, responsibility 
for enforcing the Annual Leave Act has 
passed to the federal Office of the Workplace 
Ombudsman.

Building Organisational 
Effectiveness

Portability of Long Service Leave for 
the Northern Territory Building and 
Construction Industry
A portable long service leave scheme, 
enabling Territory building and construction 
workers to benefit from long service leave 
arrangements comparable to those enjoyed by 
workers in other states and territories, came 
into effect on 1 July 2005 with the introduction 
of the Construction Industry Long Service 
Leave and Benefits Act (CILSLB Act). 

As noted in the 2005-2006 Annual Report, 
the ongoing administration of the scheme is 
managed by a Northern Territory Government 
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appointed statutory tripartite board established 
under the CILSLB Act. The NT Build Board 
consists of an independent chairperson, NT 
Treasury nominee, and industry members 
nominated by:

Territory Construction Association (TCA)

Housing Industry Association (HIA)

Construction Forestry, Mining and Energy  
 Union (CFMEU)

Unions NT. 
 
Under the Administrative Arrangements 
Order the OCPE has been given principal 
responsibility for the general administration of 
the CILSLB Act. However, under the CILSLB 
Act, the Board holds specific responsibility for 
the day-to-day management of the scheme 
and provides advice and recommendations to 
the Minister for Public Employment about the 
legislation. 

The scheme, including staffing and 
operational expenses, is self-funded through 
a levy on Northern Territory construction work 
and investment earnings. As such, no general 
allocation of funding is provided through the 
Territory budget.

NT Build is not a separate agency within 
the meaning of the Financial Management 
Act or the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act.

As such, the staff of NT Build are OCPE 
employees who assist the NT Build Board 
under a full cost recovery arrangement 
between the Commissioner and the NT Build 
Board.

•

•

•

•

As the NT Build Board is responsible for 
its own expenditure and financial reporting 
requirements, the Board submits a separate 
report on the performance of the scheme to 
the Minister for Public Employment annually.

Further information on the NT Build Portable 
Long Service Leave Scheme is at 
www.ntbuild.com.au.

Future Priorities

Federal Workplace Reform
The Australian Government has shown 
a continued willingness to amend the 
Workplace Relations Act and Regulations. 
This arrangement is expected to continue. 
Ongoing refinement of the federal legislation 
has significant implications for the OCPE as 
it necessitates systemic and legal review of 
NTPS terms and conditions of employment. 
The forthcoming federal election is expected 
to have a bearing on the national industrial 
relations legislative framework, irrespective of 
the outcome. 

The OCPE will continue to monitor issues, 
provide advice to the Australian Government 
on the implications and implement changes 
where required to ensure legislative 
compliance.
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Expansion of the Role of the Office
The Northern Territory Workplace Advocate 
was established in 2005-2006. More 
information on the achievements of the 
Advocate is provided elsewhere in this report.
 
Re-assessment of Priorities
The introduction of amendments to the 
Workplace Relations Act and the complexity 
of those changes have required a significant 
shift in the OCPE’s workload. This is 
compounded by the emergence of more 
individualised working arrangements for 
specific occupational and industrial groups as 
the labour market continues to segment. The 
latter development has resulted in the OCPE 
negotiating more workplace agreements than 
at any time in the past. It is expected these 
trends will continue.

EBA (Workplace Agreement) 
Negotiations
In 2006-2007, Employee Relations played 
the lead role in the negotiation and 
implementation of new workplace agreements 
for the following employees:

nurses

marine pilots

Darwin Port Corporation general staff

NTPS dental officers (implemented by  
 determination). 
 

•

•

•

•

Employee Relations also started negotiations 
for new workplace agreements for:

NTPS medical officers

general employees

teachers and educators

prison officers 

the Power and Water Corporation. 

These negotiations took place in the  
context of recent amendments to the 
Workplace Relations Act as a result of  
the Australian Government’s WorkChoices  
regime, and the implementation of the  
NTPS Wages Policy 2006, which requires  
increases in salary be based on the  
following factors:

productivity improvements

market forces

Consumer Price Index

the Northern Territory Government’s  
 fiscal position

other relevant government policies. 
 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Promotions Appeal Board 
and Review of Treatment 
in Employment
The Promotions Appeal Board and Review 
(PAB&R) operates as an independent body. 
However, for administrative purposes, it is 
located in the Office of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment. The PAB&R administers, 
chairs and establishes procedures for all 
promotions appeal matters.

A Review of Treatment in Employment 
Section 59 review is undertaken on behalf of 
the Commissioner for Public Employment. 
Section 59 (s.59) reviews encompasses the 
investigating and reporting on applications 
lodged under s.59 of the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act (PSEMA). 
Reviewing officers report to the Commissioner 
and make recommendations for review 
outcomes.

Appeal and s.59 review processes provide 
employees with the opportunity to seek 
independent consideration of the actions or 
decisions of agencies.

The PAB&R independently and impartially 
reviews practices and decisions, providing 
feedback and recommendations for future 
action to both employees and agencies.

Vision
Merit, equity and fairness prevail within public 
sector people management.

Mission
Develop, implement and evaluate policies  

 and strategies to provide effective, impartial  
 and independent review of appeals and  
 s.59 requests.

•

Foster selection in accordance with the  
 merit principle.

Foster fair and equitable treatment of all  
 employees.

 
Highlights for 2006-2007

65 promotion appeals finalised.

55 s.59 reviews finalised. 

2006-2007 Appeals
Section 55 of the PSEMA lets NTPS 
employees challenge the provisional 
promotion of another employee by lodging an 
appeal on the grounds that they have superior 
merit for the position.

The PAB&R’s objective is to ensure merit, 
equity and fairness prevail in public sector 
management through an effective, impartial 
and independent appeal mechanism.

Promotions appeal matters are prescribed 
under Sections 55 and 56 of the PSEMA and 
Regulations 9, 10, 11 and 12 of the Public 
Sector Employment Regulations.

Appeals are determined by a tripartite Board 
consisting of a chairperson nominated by the 
Commissioner, a nominee of the agency and 
a nominee of the relevant staff association or 
union. In determining an appeal, the Board 
reviews statements provided by parties to the 
appeal, may seek further information and may 
also require parties to attend a hearing.

While appeals must be based on superior 
merit, employees often use the appeal 
process to redress disappointing feedback, 
issues with referee comments or poorly 
written selection reports. Although the need 
to demonstrate superior merit is explained to 
appellants, the distinction between merit and 
process is often difficult for appellants to accept. 

•

•

•

•
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From 1255 provisional promotions during 
the 2006-2007 financial year, 54 promotion 
appeals and 20 protective appeals were 
received. Of promotion appeals determined 
during 2006-2007 (including 74 received 
in 2006-2007 and one carried over from 
2005-2006), three were allowed, 16 were 

disallowed, four were withdrawn and 42 
lapsed. At the end of 2006-2007 there were 
ten outstanding appeals. The following table 
(Table 1) provides a statistical overview of 
promotion appeals over the past five financial 
years. 

Table 1 - 2006-2007 Promotion Appeals

Totals for Promotion Appeals (permanent/temporary/protective)

2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07

Appeals carried over 27 3 4 7 �

Appeals received 35 29 146 36 74

Total Handled 62 32 �50 43 75

Finalised 59 28 143 42 65

Allowed � 2 � � 3

Disallowed 34 �6 47 27 �6

Readvertised 0 0 2 � 0

Withdrawn �� 5 38 8 4

Lapsed 7 5 50 5 42

Cancelled 6 0 5 0 0

On hand at end of period 3 4 7 1 10

Note: The higher appeal level during 2006/07 (caused in part by a large selection exercise which resulted in a large 

number of actual and protective appeals being lodged) means that for the 2006/07 period the percentage of promotions 

being appealed against is 6 per cent, which is higher than the more usual level of 3 per cent. However, this increase fits 

within the historical range for NT public sector appeals (refer to the 2004/05 figures in the above table).
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2006-2007 Section 59 Review of 
Treatment In Employment
Under Section 59 (s.59) of the Public 
Sector Employment and Management Act, 
employees may request the Commissioner 
review matters related to treatment received 
while employed in the public sector. This 
includes the failure to take action or 
make a decision.

Review of Treatment in Employment is 
outlined in Employment Instruction (EI) 
Number 8 (Management of Grievances). 
Reference to s.59 Review is also made in 
Clause 6 of EI Number 2 (Probation), and 
Clause 11 of EI Number 5 
(Medical Incapacity).

All s.59 reviews are dealt with impartially and 
independently. Where the Commissioner had 
earlier involvement in the matter, or previous 
dealings with the employee that might lead to 
perceptions that consideration of the matter 
could be partial, the review was delegated to 
an impartial CEO for consideration.

The most common reasons for lodging 
a request for review are bullying and 
harassment, inconsistent adherence to 
procedures and guidelines, handling of 
selection processes, the application of 
conditions of service, the termination of 
probationary appointments, management 
practices and personal conflicts within the 
workplace. 

The time taken to complete s.59 reviews 
has been an ongoing concern. The aim 
is to review all requests within 100 days, 
however, all parties to the review are given the 
chance to comment on matters raised. This 
consultation has often led to extended delays. 
Currently the average time for a s.59 review to 
be completed is 162 days.

Seventy eight s.59 reviews were handled 
during 2006-2007. Of these, one was the 
subject of mediation and one was resolved at 
mediation. Below is a statistical overview of 
s.59 reviews over the past five financial years 
(Graph 1) and a graph showing number of 
s.59 requests by agency (Graph 2).
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Graph 2 - Total s.59 Requests for Review by Agency Handled 2006-2007
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Inquiries
The PAB&R responds to employee and 
agency inquiries on appeal and reviews 
matters. This may involve advice on the 
process, or discussion of the issues for which 
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Agency

employees are considering lodging a s.59. 
Inquiries may be brief, but may also require 
investigation or follow-up, either verbally or in 
writing. The following chart (Table 2) provides 
an indicator of the inquiries received.

Table 2 – Verbal and Written Inquiries

2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07

Promotions inquiries 603 283 419 249 311

Review/treatment in employment 
inquiries

1034 ���6 1362 667 749

Inquiries on other matters 520 1164 927 346 306

Requiring more detailed response
57 63 ��6 59 46

Totals 2214 2626 2824 1311 1412
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Overview
The Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OCPE) builds capability within 
the Northern Territory Public Sector (NTPS) by 
formulating, implementing and evaluating best 
practice policy and strategies in organisational 
development, workforce management 
and planning, cultural change, Indigenous 
employment and workplace diversity. The 
OCPE also designs and coordinates executive 
and leadership development activities for the 
NTPS.

Workforce Planning

Accredited Activities
The OCPE co-ordinates a range of leadership 
development programs, such as the national 
Public Sector Management Program, Kigaruk 
Indigenous Men’s Leadership Development 
Program and Lookrukin Indigenous Women’s 
Leadership Development Program.

Chief Minister’s Awards for Excellence in 
Public Sector Management
In September 2006 the inaugural Chief 
Minister’s Awards for Excellence in Public 
Sector Management were held in Alice 
Springs. These awards, developed by the 
OCPE, recognise, honour and celebrate 
excellence in public sector administration and 
delivery of services to the community.
The awards provide opportunities to share 

knowledge across the Northern Territory 
Government and increase community 
awareness of the breadth, diversity and quality 
of public sector managers.

Nominations were open to any work group or 
team in the NTPS, including partnerships with 
other jurisdictions, the non-government sector 
and the private sector. The following agencies 
were presented with their awards by the Chief 
Minister:

Cross-Government Collaboration - The  
 Court Support Services in the Department  
 of Justice for its Court Referral and  
 Evaluation for Drug Intervention Treatment  
 (CREDIT) Program

Engagement with the Community -  
 Department of Local Government, Housing  
 and Sport’s Libraries and Knowledge  
 Centres Program

Regional and Remote Development  
 - Department of Natural Resources,  
 Environment and the Arts’ Progressive Joint  
 Management in Partnership with  
 Indigenous People of the Katherine Region

Indigenous Community Development  
 - Department of Natural Resources,  
 Environment and the Arts’ Dhimmuru  
 Indigenous Protected Area: Both Ways 
 Management.

•

•

•

•

Output 2: Workforce Development
Strategic Workforce Development 
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Institute of Public Administration 
Australia National Conference
The Northern Territory hosted the Institute of 
Public Administration Australia (IPAA) National 
Conference at the Alice Springs Convention 
Centre from 13 – 15 September 2006. The 
conference was organised by IPAA (NT) 
Division with support from the OCPE. This 
is the first time it has been held outside of a 
capital city. It was an outstanding success with 
excellent feedback received from the post-
conference on-line evaluation.

The conference explored a number of themes 
relating to regional and remote Australia 
that people in public administration grapple 
with on a daily basis. It featured a number 
of outstanding speakers including Dr Peter 
Shergold, AC, Secretary of the Department of 
Prime Minister and Cabinet; Ms Sue Vardon, 
AO - a senior administrator with experience 
in a number of high profile agencies; Mr Mark 
Peters, CEO Australian Sports Commission; 
Professor Kenneth Wiltshire, AO - JD Story 
Professor of Public Administration at the 
University of Queensland; and Ms Patricia 
Turner, AO. At least 300 people attended the 
conference.

Executive Leadership 
Development Strategy
It is becoming increasingly difficult for NTPS 
agencies to attract and retain suitably 
experienced and qualified applicants in 
leadership and management roles, particularly 
at the senior executive level. Agencies 
are reporting that many internal applicants 
for leadership and management roles are 
unable to demonstrate sufficient experience, 
qualifications or potential to warrant selection. 
Attracting and retaining external applicants is 
affected by the contracting labour market.

The ageing population in the NTPS and 
the broader community will compound this 
situation in coming years. A priority, therefore, 
is to develop executive leadership capability 
within existing NTPS ranks. The OCPE 
has, over several years, developed and 
implemented policies and programs designed 
to grow public sector leaders. Agencies are 
developing their own internal and external 
management and leadership programs 
consistent with their own needs and budgets.

The Executive Leadership Development 
Strategy 2007-2011 was endorsed by the 
NTPS Coordination Committee in May 2007 
and will be considered by Cabinet early in 
2007-2008.

Output 2: Workforce Development
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Executive Coaching
Executive Coaching is available sector-wide 
through a panel contract arrangement, with 30 
executive coaches available. 
Executive Coaching provides solution 
focussed, results oriented outcomes for 
executives, policy makers and professionals 
through a systematic process whereby 
personal and professional development 
is enhanced.

Executive coaching helps executives explore 
the situations and issues they are facing to 
encourage them to think more thoroughly and 
take ownership of their professional growth; 
it can also assist with setting strategic goals, 
achieving organisational strategic directions 
and building corporate values. The purpose 
of this initiative is to develop and strengthen 
executive leadership and management level 
capabilities to meet the current and emerging 
challenges of public sector management in the 
Northern Territory. 

NTPS Indigenous Employment and 
Career Development Strategy 
2002–2006
The OCPE coordinates the NTPS Indigenous 
Employment and Career Development 
Strategy 2002-2006 (IECDS) across Northern 
Territory Government agencies as a vehicle to 
increase diversity in the public sector to reflect 
the community it serves.

Since launching the IECDS, there has been 
an increase in the proportion of people 
employed in NTPS agencies who identify as 
Indigenous. In November 2002 there were 725 
Indigenous officers (4.6 per cent), with 1261 
(7.3 per cent) in June 2007.

Charles Darwin University was engaged to 
evaluate the IECDS. Recommendations from 
the evaluation will be incorporated in the next 
strategy in 2007-2011 after consultation and 
input from agencies.

It is expected that this review and strategy will 
be completed and considered by Cabinet in 
2007-2008.

Indigenous Leadership Development
Several initiatives have been launched 
through the IECDS, including Indigenous 
Employment Forums, an Indigenous 
Employment Tool Kit and Kigaruk and 
Lookrukin leadership development programs 
for Indigenous employees.

Both the Kigaruk and Lookrukin programs aim 
to increase the number of Indigenous men 
and women in management and executive 
officer positions in the NTPS, and to provide 
an opportunity for participants to gain the 
knowledge and skills to compete on merit for 
senior positions.

More than 50 Indigenous employees have 
taken part in Kigaruk and Lookrukin and 
graduated with a Diploma of Business 
(Frontline Management).
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Remote Workforce Development
The Remote Workforce Development Strategy 
(RWDS) was launched in November 2003. 
The strategy is a whole of government 
approach to improving links between agencies 
and addressing the challenges of distance, 
isolation and cost in providing support 
and development opportunities to remote 
employees.

The final year of the strategy’s initial 
implementation was 2005-2006. Charles 
Darwin University provided an independent 
evaluation of the strategy’s effectiveness with 
recommendations.

Findings from the RWDS evaluation 
(finalised in March 2006) identified the 
need for leadership, team building and 
communication workshops. The Sustaining 
Remote Employees program was developed 
for remote employees and managers (both 
urban and remote based) with responsibility 
for remote employees. A pilot workshop will be 
conducted for the Department of Health and 
Community Services (DHCS) in August 2007 
with another two programs planned over the 
2007-2008 financial year.

Scholarships
In 2006-2007 Remote Workforce Scholarships 
worth $200 000 were awarded to 48 remote 
employees, including Top End Remote (4), 
East Arnhem (26), Katherine Remote (2), 
Barkly (14) and Alice Springs Remote (2). The 
employing agencies were:

Department of Employment, Education and  
 Training (DEET)

Department of Health and Community  
 Services (DHCS)

Department of Primary Industry, Fisheries  
 and Mines (DPIFM) 

Northern Territory Police, Fire and  
 Emergency Services (NTPFES)

Department of Natural Resources,  
 Environment and the Arts (DNRETA)

Department of Local Government, Housing  
 and Sport (DLGHS). 
 
Special scholarships were also awarded 
to remote employees to provide the 
opportunity for them to take part in leadership 
development programs such as the Public 
Sector Management Program (3), and the 
Discovery - Women as Leaders Program (2). 
 
Innovative Grants 
In 2006-2007 Innovative and Collaborative 
Grants worth $450 000 were awarded to 
NTPS agencies to deliver professional 
development projects for remote employees. 
The agencies that received funding were:

Department of Corporate and Information  
 Services (DCIS), $10 000

Department of Local Government, Housing  
 and Sport, $7 800

Department of Employment, Education and  
 Training, $137 700

NT Police, Fire and Emergency Services,  
 $94 800

Department of Health and Community  
 Services, $108 200

Department of Natural Resources, 
 Environment and the Arts, $94 400.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Revive and Re-focus Forum
A remote employee support program of 
Revive and Refocus Forums provide remote 
employees and their families with networking 
opportunities, reflective learning and 
regrouping activities, and activities to develop 
strategies for cross-cultural effectiveness and 
inter-agency collaboration.

An Indigenous specific Revive and Refocus 
Forum for remote Indigenous NTPS 
employees was conducted at Batchelor on 
7-9 September 2006 for North East Arnhem 
Indigenous employees, with 29 Yolngu 
participants - three health workers, one 
interpreter and several DEET employees. 
Aimed at promoting cross-cultural 
understanding of communication issues in the 
NTPS, this is the first program delivered for 
NTPS Indigenous employees in an Indigenous 
language, and possibly a first anywhere in 
Australia.

Three Revive and Refocus Forums were held 
in 2006-2007:

North East Arnhem – Indigenous specific  
 (September 2006) with 29 participants

North East Arnhem (November 2006) with 
 19 participants

Katherine (April 2007) with 18 participants.

•

•

•

Willing and Able
Willing and Able - a strategy for the 
employment of people with disabilities in the 
NTPS 2003 – 2006 aims to help agencies 
employ more people with disabilities and to 
maximise their potential. This strategy is being 
reviewed.

In June 2007 people with disabilities 
represented 1.9 per cent (337 people) of the 
NTPS. The strategy began in 2003 with 1.4 
per cent of employees (217 people) identified 
as having a disability.

Highlights of the strategy included:

The Special Category Award of the 2007  
 Equity and Diversity Awards has been  
 identified for initiatives designed to address 
 the outcomes stated in the Willing and Able  
 strategy.

A review commissioned for the Project  
 Employment Scheme - recommendations  
 have been considered and feedback has  
 been received from agencies to determine  
 the future direction of the scheme.

Disability Works Australia NT continued to  
 provide agencies with access to a single,  
 free, effective contact point for recruiting  
 people with disabilities.

The disAbility Awareness Network (dAN)  
 continued to meet regularly. This group is a  
 network of NTPS employees with  
 disabilities and/or special needs. Its role  
 is to support employees with disabilities  
 and advise the Commissioner on current  
 issues as well as successes and  
 frustrations of people with disabilities in the  
 NTPS.

•

•

•

•



35Annual Report 2006-2007

Mentoring training was provided to dAN  
 members and other employees from Equal  
 Employment Opportunity (EEO) target  
 groups.

Nine agencies conducted self-audits on  
 building access to 21 government occupied  
 buildings.

Project Employment
The OCPE continued its partnership with 
Project Employment, a non-profit Australian 
Government funded organisation. The 
program’s aim is to improve access to 
the workforce for people with intellectual 
and learning disabilities. Thirteen people 
participated in the scheme in 2006-2007, 
including the permanent placement of two 
people in their host agency. Work with 
agencies continues to place long-term 
participants in permanent employment.

Work Life Balance
Work life balance is a major issue in labour 
market planning and promoting jobs in the 
NTPS. The Managing Work Life Balance in 
the NTPS Policy and Implementation Plan 
2004-06 provides a framework for all agencies 
to implement effective strategies, recognising 
that all employees have commitments and 
interests outside the workplace.

The Work Life Balance pilot programs led 
by the Department of the Chief Minister, 
Department of Health and Community 
Services, and Department of Employment, 
Education and Training were completed and 
evaluated in early 2007. This pilot group 
of 875 employees from Darwin, regional 
and remote localities represented a cross-
section of teachers, nurses, allied health 
professionals, office-based and managerial 

•

•

employees. The evaluation of the pilot 
programs includes a survey of participants as 
well as detailed reports from human resources 
(HR) staff involved with the implementation. 
It is expected this will lead to a revised 
framework of flexible work choices, as well 
as new guidelines and practical support for 
implementation across the sector.

Public Sector Management Program
The OCPE is the host agency for the 
national Public Sector Management (PSM) 
Program. The PSM Program is a joint venture 
between the Australian, State and Territory 
Governments to deliver first class public 
sector management training and offers a 
Graduate Certificate from one of four leading 
Australian universities. Two programs began 
in 2006-2007 with 37 people enrolled.

Public Policy Program
The Public Policy Program is a response 
to the many NTPS employees wanting to 
learn more about the theory, practice, and 
daily experience of policy development 
and delivery. The program offers a range 
of perspectives on policy development and 
implementation, tailored to the Northern 
Territory Government and community context.

The program increased sector-wide 
understanding of the issues involved 
in developing and implementing policy, 
evaluating policy advice, and the practical 
elements of writing and producing policies at 
all levels. It included the following seminars 
and workshops:
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The Process, Dr Randal Stewart (Alice  
 Springs and Darwin)

Pitfalls of Policy Implementation, Dr Randal  
 Stewart (Darwin)

Commitments, Constraints and  
 Conundrums: an exercise in decision  
 making at a whole of government level, NT  
 Treasury (Darwin)

Governance, politics and policy:  
 enlightenment or disillusionment?,  
 Professor Ian Thynne (Darwin).

Discovery – Women as Leaders 
Program
The Discovery – Women as Leaders Program 
is a 15-day intensive leadership program 
providing a unique personal and professional 
development opportunity for women. 
Participants have the opportunity to learn 
about contemporary leadership practices and 
change the way they view themselves and 
their career opportunities.

The program is designed to increase the 
number of women in leadership roles across 
the NTPS, and provides individuals and 
organisations with immediate and long term 
learning opportunities.

Two programs were held in Darwin in 2006-
2007, with 44 participants.

Future Priorities

Executive Leadership 
Development Strategy
The Executive Leadership Development 
Strategy will start in 2007-2008, pending 
endorsement from Cabinet.

•

•

•

•

Career Mapping
Career Mapping will be offered to all NTPS 
employees. Participants will complete 
a computer based career management 
questionnaire - Career Voyage Profile - that 
produces a profile of job interest matches and 
related occupations, combined with one-on-
one career counselling.

Mobility and Exchange Program
An implementation plan to support the policy 
paper Broadening Our Horizons—Avenues for 
Career Mobility is expected to be finalised in 
2007-2008.

The program is designed to contribute to 
succession management as well as future 
structured career development programs.

Improving Leadership 
for Remote Employees
The leadership program Sustaining Remote 
Employees will be offered across the sector 
to address leadership, team-building and 
communication in a remote context.

Indigenous Employment and Career 
Development Strategy
The OCPE will develop a new Indigenous 
Employment and Career Development 
Strategy for 2007-2011 based on 
recommendations from the evaluation 
conducted by Charles Darwin University.

Workforce Planning
The OCPE will:

develop a workforce planning methodology  
 for the NTPS HR Strategic Plan

develop a framework to recognise and  
 reward innovation in the NTPS

build a more diverse NTPS workforce

promote public sector ideals within the NTPS.

•

•

•

•
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Overview
The Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OCPE) provides strategic and 
operational advice to the Northern Territory 
Government, chief executive officers and 
Territory employees on a range of employment 
and workforce practices, policies and 
industrial relations matters.

The OCPE is responsible for: 

private and public sector industrial relations  
 policy

strategic public sector human resource  
 management policy

public sector employment framework

employee relations advice

executive contract of employment matters

job evaluation policy

Northern Territory Government input to  
 International Labour Organisation matters

Labour Inspectorate

workforce statistics and analysis

management and policy development for  
 central redeployment and redundancy

Discipline/Inability Appeal Board Secretariat 

secretariat services to the Prison  
 Officer and Police Arbitral Tribunals and  
 administration of the Police Administration  
 Act (Part III).

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Government Strategic Priorities 
The OCPE is a central agency providing 
strategic leadership and advice to NTPS 
agencies in human resource management to 
help them achieve government’s key strategic 
objectives.

The Commissioner, through the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act, has a 
critical role in ensuring that employment 
conditions are contemporary, that there is a 
supportive employee capability framework and 
industrial relations are managed to enable 
agencies to deliver their services effectively.

The OCPE also monitors and provides 
strategic private sector industrial relations 
advice to government.

Industrial Relations Service
Negotiating workplace agreements for all 
government employees, developing industrial 
relations policy and providing strategic advice 
to government and agencies remain the 
priorities for the Employee Relations Business 
Unit (Employee Relations).

Activities of Employee Relations during the 
past 12 months included:

negotiating and implementing workplace  
 agreements within the Northern Territory  
 Government’s Wages Policy

providing strategic industrial relations  
 advice to the Minister and NT Government

•

•

Output 3: Government Policy Advice
Employee Relations
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providing strategic industrial relations  
 advice and guidance to agency chief  
 executive officers and senior management

developing human resource (HR) and  
 industrial relations (IR) capacity in the  
 NTPS by conducting HR forums and  
 providing guidance

resolving industrial disputes

researching recruitment and retention  
 strategies, particularly for remote localities

reviewing the Public Sector Employment  
 and Management Act and its subordinate  
 legislation, particularly the impact of  
 changes to the Workplace Relations Act on  
 by-laws, and the appropriateness of  
 wording in by-laws and delegations

assisting the Commissioner for Public  
 Employment in exercising his statutory  
 authority

researching market competitiveness,  
 coordinating and developing NT responses  
 to cross-jurisdictional and specific NTPS  
 industrial issues. 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Workplace Agreements 
The following provides a status report on 
NTPS workplace agreements.

Agreements Finalised
Darwin Port Corporation Agreement 2006  

 covers 64 employees for a two-year period  
 to 1 July 2008.

Darwin Port Corporation Marine Pilot’s  
 Agreement covers four employees for a  
 two-year period to 1 July 2008.

Dental Officers Agreement covers 20  
 employees for a two-year period to 9  
 August 2008.

Northern Territory Public Sector Nurses  
 2007 Workplace Agreement covers 1650  
 nurses for a two-year period to 9 August  
 2008.

Replacement Agreements to be Negotiated 
and/or Finalised in 2007-2008

2003–2006 Medical Officers Agreement,  
 which covers approximately 400 medical  
 officers and expired on 30 June 2006  
 (continuing negotiations).

2004–2007 Power and Water Enterprise  
 Bargaining Agreement, which covers  
 approximately 700 employees and expired  
 on 8 August 2007.

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Northern Territory Public Sector 2004- 
 2007 Certified Agreement, which covers  
 approximately 9000 employees and  
 expired on 9 August 2007.

Northern Territory Public Sector Prison  
 Officers 2004-2007 Certified Agreement,  
 which covers approximately 360 prison  
 officers and expired on 9 August 2007.

Northern Territory Public Sector 2005-  
 2007 Teachers and Educators Certified  
 Agreement, which covers approximately  
 2750 employees and expired on  
 31 August 2007.

Northern Territory Public Sector Fire and  
 Rescue Service 2002 Certified Agreement,  
 which covers approximately 140 employees  
 and will expire on 7 November 2007. 

Implementation of Certified 
and Workplace Agreements
Workplace agreements are still the main 
way to achieve benefits for agencies and 
employees, including enhanced productivity 
across the NTPS. Most agreements provide 
for the parties to conduct various inquiries and 
reviews, and to implement agreed outcomes 
during the life of the agreement. Reviews 
with an occupational or agency focus are 
conducted primarily by the relevant agency 
and unions. In these reviews, the OCPE’s role 
is to provide specialised industrial 
relations input and advice, oversight and 
approval as required.

•

•

•

•

A number of whole of government reviews are 
conducted where the OCPE takes primary 
responsibility, with agencies and unions 
providing input and support as necessary. A 
number of reviews and working parties have 
been established under the Northern Territory 
Public Sector 2004-2007 Certified Agreement 
and are mirrored in other agreements. These 
include:

Review of Occupational Health and Safety  
 (OH&S). This review is working towards  
 the introduction of workplace Health and  
 Safety Representatives as part of a NTPS  
 OH&S Framework.

Review of the levels of physical and  
 technical jobs. A review of the work  
 value of jobs in the physical and technical  
 classification stream is being conducted  
 across all agencies. The review is confined  
 to jobs that have not been evaluated since  
 August 2002. Most agencies have reported  
 the review has been completed.

Professional Issues Review. The working  
 party considers employment issues  
 affecting NTPS employees in the  
 professional classification. A survey of  
 employees has been conducted. The  
 work to date will help provide a basis for  
 the negotiations for professional employees  
 during workplace agreement negotiations.

Superannuation Review. This review is  
 considering a broad range of  
 superannuation issues including joint  
 employer/employee contributions, employer  
 contribution rates and the development  
 of educational programs and transition  
 to retirement.

•

•

•

•
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Workplace Relations Act 
(Commonwealth)
The introduction of the WorkChoices 
amendments to the Australian Government’s 
Workplace Relations Act, and subsequent 
amendments, have had a major impact on 
the OCPE.

The OCPE has: 

modified internal procedures to satisfy the  
 requirements of the Workplace Relations Act

provided guidance to public sector human  
 resource practitioners 

participated in joint state and territory  
 reviews

advised on the impact of the legislation in  
 relation to procurement of goods and  
 services by government

analysed the Workplace Relations Act in  
 relation to the NTPS – Long Service Leave  
 Act, Annual Leave Act and Public Holiday Act

analysed the Workplace Relations Act in  
 relation to NTPS terms and conditions of  
 employment and record keeping

analysed the Workplace Relations Act  
 and subsequent amendments in relation to  
 public sector award conditions and  
 agreement making processes. 

The OCPE will do further work in these areas 
in 2007-2008.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Northern Territory 
Workplace Advocate

Role of the Workplace Advocate
The Northern Territory Workplace Advocate 
(NTWA) is an information, consultation and 
advisory service set up to assist Territory 
workers, employers and their representatives 
with work-related matters and to promote fair 
and productive workplaces in the Territory.

Workplace Advocate Activities
The NTWA was created on 2 May 2006 for an 
initial 12 months and has since been extended 
to February 2008.

Industrial Relations (IR) Advice
The NTWA provides a private sector policy 
advice resource to the Northern Territory 
Government. This includes representing 
the Northern Territory Government at inter-
governmental meetings, providing analysis 
and advice on developments in industrial 
relations (particularly developments 
arising from changes under the Australian 
Government’s WorkChoices), and providing 
advice to Northern Territory Government 
agencies that deal with private sector 
employment.

Public Advice
The NTWA operates a 1300 advice line to 
provide Territorians with easy to access 
advice on their rights and responsibilities 
under WorkChoices. The advice line database 
records 395 calls were made to the advice 
line between 1 July 2006 and 30 June 2007. 
As the database was in development in 2006 
the actual number of calls was significantly 
higher. About 28.5 per cent of calls were from 
employers or their representatives.
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The NTWA also maintains a website which 
contains information and resources about 
WorkChoices. Federal awards are provided 
free of charge on request.

The NTWA provided a submission to 
the House of Representatives Standing 
Committee on Legal and Constitutional 
Affairs when the Committee met in Darwin 
on 16 November 2006. In that submission, 
the NTWA proposed that should statehood 
be granted, the Northern Territory should be 
granted the full suite of powers and rights 
granted to foundation states, including 
industrial relations powers.

On 9 February 2007 the NTWA presented the 
Minister for Public Employment with an interim 
report detailing the previous eight months’ 
activities.

International 
Labour Organisation (ILO)
The OCPE reports to the International Labour 
Organisation (ILO) in Geneva, Switzerland, 
through the Australian Department of 
Employment and Workplace Relations 
(DEWR), which administers all ILO matters 
nationally. DEWR coordinates responses from 
the states and territories for ratification of 
new conventions on behalf of the Australian 
Government. 

The Northern Territory Technical Officer in the 
OCPE reports annually, through DEWR, on 
ratified and unratified conventions as specified 
by the ILO for that year.

Under Article 19 of the Constitution of the 
ILO, Australia has to report on unratified 
ILO conventions. During the reporting 
period the OCPE, on behalf of the Northern 
Territory Government and in consultation with 
appropriate agencies, prepared the annual 
Article 19 report on the unratified Labour 
Clauses (Public Contracts) Convention (No 
94) and Recommendation (No 84), 1949.

Under Article 22 of the Constitution of the 
ILO, Australia has to report on ratified ILO 
conventions. During the reporting period the 
OCPE, on behalf of the Northern Territory 
Government and in consultation with 
appropriate agencies, prepared the annual 
Article 22 report consisting of:

1  Reports on the:

Workmen’s Compensation    
 (Agriculture) Convention, 1921 (No. 12)

Equality of Treatment (Accident  
 Compensation) Convention, 1925 (No. 19)

Workmen’s Compensation 
 (Occupational Diseases) Convention  
 (Revised), 1934 (No. 42)

Equal Remuneration Convention,  
 1951 (No. 100)

Discrimination (Employment and  
 Occupation) Convention,  
 1958 (No. 111).

2  Responses to the Observations/Direct 
 Requests of the Committee of Experts with 
 regard to the Discrimination (Employment 
 and Occupation) Convention, 
 1958 (No.111).

•

•

•

•

•
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The OCPE has been liaising between 
the Federal Minister for Employment and 
Workplace Relations and the Northern 
Territory Minister for Public Employment, 
and relevant agencies, regarding Australia’s 
proposed ratification of the ILO Part-time Work 
Convention, 1994 (No. 175). 

The OCPE prepared the 2007 annual follow-
up on the ILO Declaration on Fundamental 
Principles and Rights at Work (including the 
abolition of child labour) (the Declaration).

The Declaration covers ILO Convention 
138 - Minimum Age Convention, 1973 and 
Convention 182 – The Worst Forms of Child 
Labour, 1999 and provides for an annual 
follow up on member states’ efforts to 
respect, promote and realise the fundamental 
principles expressed in the Declaration. 
Australia has submitted yearly reports 
since 1999.

In addition to these reports, the OCPE 
provided DEWR with the NT response for 
comment on:

briefings on direct requests to delegations  
 attending ILO meetings and the ILO  
 Committee of Experts in Geneva

reports for the 96th Session of the  
 International Labour Council on Work  
 in the Fishing Sector and on Sustainable  
 Enterprises. 
 
DEWR also offered an opportunity to 
comment on the submission reports to the 
Australian Parliament for the newly ratified 
Promotional Framework for Occupational 
Safety and Health, 2006 (No. 187) and 
its associated Recommendation No. 197; 

•

•

and the Recommendation Concerning the 
Employment Relationship (R198).

Work Life Balance
The Northern Territory Government, as a 
major employer, is committed to helping 
employees balance their work and life 
commitments. 

Public sector workplace agreements, such as 
the Northern Territory Public Sector 2004 – 
2007 Certified Agreement (NTPS Agreement), 
detail work and family initiatives available to 
employees. Conditions available to employees 
covered by the NTPS Agreement include:

flexible working arrangements

home-based work

job sharing

part-time work

career breaks 

part-year employment 

short-term absences for family and  
 community responsibilities.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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NTPS workplace agreements also provide for 
the review and introduction of initiatives by 
agreement between the employer and the unions. 
 
As a result of feedback from the Work Life 
Balance Pilot, new work and family initiatives 
trialled on a case-by-case basis in 2006-
2007 included recreation leave at half pay, 
purchased leave, and flexible working 
arrangements that fall outside standard 
employment conditions. In 2006-2007, two 
flexible working arrangements, 20 recreation 
leave at half pay, and nine purchased 
leave arrangements were approved by 
the Commissioner. The Commissioner 
also approved a number of requests from 
employees for casual employment while on 
leave without pay.

Recreation leave at half pay lets an employee 
double the period of leave with a reduction to 
half pay during the total period of absence. 
Of the total requests, 85 per cent sought half 
pay entitlements in conjunction with maternity 
leave and the use of other leave entitlements 
at half pay, such as long service leave. One 
request sought a break from work for personal 
reasons, one sought a break to pursue full-
time study and another sought relief for family 
medical reasons.

Purchased leave involves an employee’s 
consent to regular deductions from their 

fortnightly pay proportionate to the value of 
additional leave sought by the employee. In 
all cases, additional leave was required in 
conjunction with family responsibilities during 
school holidays.

In 2006-2007 work was undertaken on the 
following:

development of guidelines - to ensure  
 consistent and fair consideration is applied  
 to employee requests when accessing work  
 and family initiatives, such as carer’s leave  
 applications

home based work arrangements  
 – to consider and examine issues related  
 to recreation leave entitlements for  
 employees based outside the Northern  
 Territory, OH&S requirements and workers’  
 compensation implications.

A number of work life balance initiatives  
are being reviewed including ante natal  
leave, paid paternity leave, and combining  
various leave types into one general  
‘personal’ leave entitlement. 

The OCPE will continue to improve and 
implement work life balance initiatives for 
employees through the enterprise bargaining 
process, in consultation with agencies and 
employees and/or their representatives. 

•

•
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Public Sector Consultative 
Council Working Parties

Review of Discipline 
and Inability Processes
An independent review began to streamline 
and simplify the discipline and inability 
processes, while maintaining adequate 
safeguards for employees. A report 
was prepared for consideration by the 
Commissioner but resourcing and other 
priority issues have prevented this review from 
being completed.

Competency Based 
Assessment and Training
A review has begun of the Competency 
Based Assessment and Training (CBAT), 
implemented in the early 1990s for AO1 
positions to provide a structured alternative 
path to annual increments through the 
recognition of attained competencies. Over 
time the number of AO1 jobs has diminished.

Child Care
In reviewing child care services in the NT, 
the working party found that the Northern 
Territory is the only jurisdiction that 
subsidises child care services in addition to 
Australian Government support. While the 
Northern Territory Government will not be 
providing additional funding for childcare, 
the Equity, Diversity and Flexibility Standing 
Committee supports measures to help raise 
the awareness of NTPS employees on the 
availability of child care facilities and services, 
and in encouraging the Australian Government 
to further advertise child care services.

Ministerial and Cabinet Advice
In the 2006-2007 reporting period the OCPE 
prepared and submitted 263 pieces of formal 
written advice to the Minister and Cabinet, 
compared to 253 in 2005-2006 and 191 for 
2004-2005. These included a diverse range of 
topics including:

NTPS wages policy

workplace agreement negotiations for: 

medical officers

nurses

dental officers

The Darwin Port Corporation

the Power and Water Corporation

police housing dispute

implementation of Australian Fair Pay and  
 Conditions Standard in the NTPS

NT Workplace Advocate

NT legislation

High Court decision in relation to the validity  
 of the Commonwealth’s Industrial  
 Relations laws

ratification of ILO Convention 175

closure of the Northern Territory  
 Government and Public Authorities  
 Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS).

•

•

»

»

»

»

»

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Public Sector 
Consultative Council
The Public Sector Consultative Council 
(PSCC) is established under the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act. Its function 
is to consider matters of general interest in 
relation to the public sector referred to it by the 
Commissioner and to report on these matters 
to the Commissioner. The PSCC meets as 
regularly as the Commissioner directs, having 
regard to the nature and volume of business 
to be considered.

Two meetings of the PSCC were held in the 
reporting period, in December 2006 and June 
2007. Matters considered included:

the State of the Service Report

Equity, Diversity and Flexibility

working party matters arising from  
 workplace agreements

the impact of WorkChoices on the NTPS

the NTPS Wages Policy 2006

merit and diversity.

 

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Effective Corporate 
Governance

Effective 

Governance

Part 3

Corporate
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Overview

Shared Services Arrangement with the 
Department of the Chief Minister
In November 2006, an agreement was 
reached between the Commissioner and the 
Chief Executive, Department of the Chief 
Minister (DCM) to amalgamate the corporate 
services units of both agencies and enter into 
a shared services arrangement. 

Under this arrangement, the DCM will 
provide the full range of corporate services 
to the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OCPE) on a fee for service 
basis, including:

financial management

records and information management 

human resources 

marketing and communications

corporate governance

information technology. 
 
In February 2007, staff of the OCPE Corporate 
Management unit relocated to Department of 
the Chief Minister but continued to provide 
corporate services to the OCPE under a 
transitional arrangement. 

The amalgamation of the two groups began 
in full on 1 July 2007 when positions were 
transferred from the OCPE to the DCM and 
budget adjustments were effected between 
the two agencies. 

The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the 
Department of the Chief Minister assumed 
this responsibility for the OCPE from 1 July. 

•

•

•

•

•

•

The CFO will also become a standing member 
of the OCPE Board of Management and 
represent the Commissioner on 
inter-agency coordination and corporate 
governance matters.

The amalgamation resulted in reduction of 
eight full time equivalent (FTE) positions 
for the OCPE and is expected to generate 
savings to government of about $200 000 a 
year. The value of the services provided back 
to the OCPE has been calculated at 
$420 000 a year.

Governance Framework
The OCPE corporate governance framework 
aims to ensure the efficient use of resources, 
compliance with statutory and other external 
requirements, and sound administrative and 
financial management practice. 

Corporate governance practices include: 

identifying and planning strategies for  
 delivering the OCPE outputs and sector- 
 wide obligations

monitoring the delivery of outputs and  
 across-government responsibilities

monitoring the effectiveness of the OCPE’s  
 use of resources, based on budgeting,  
 financial and other reporting mechanisms

developing and implementing appropriate  
 risk management strategies. 
 
Primary responsibility for the management 
and strategic leadership of the OCPE rests 
with the OCPE’s Management Board.

•

•

•

•
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Management Environment
Organisational Structure

The diagram below shows the high-level management and operational structure of the OCPE at 
30 June 2007.

Director
Promotions Appeal Board & Review
Lee Berryman

Senior Consultant
Central Australia
Erika Sauzier

Director
Employees Relations
Brian Mappas

Workplace Advocate
Justin Larkin

Director
Strategic Workforce Planning and Development
Danielle Cross

Director
Corporate Management
Michael Leonard

Commissioner for Public Employment
Ken Simpson
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Management Board
Management Board members as at 30 June 
2007 were:

Ken Simpson
Commissioner for Public Employment

Ken Simpson joined 
the OCPE on 1 
July 2006. Ken has 
had broad policy 
and operational 
experience in 
Northern Territory 
Government 
agencies since 
arriving in Darwin 
in 1976. He has 

held senior positions in the Chief Minister’s 
Department (Deputy Chief Executive), 
Department of Employment, Education and 
Training (Deputy Chief Executive and Acting 
Chief Executive), Department of Corporate 
and Information Services (Deputy Chief 
Executive), Department of Health (Assistant 
Secretary) and the then Department of 
Transport and Works (Director). Ken has also 
acted as the NT’s Auditor-General. 

Lee Berryman
Director Promotions Appeal 
Board and Review

Lee Berryman 
joined the NTPS 
in 1996 and was 
appointed to the 
position of Director 
Promotions Appeal 
and Review in May 
1997. Lee’s early 
career comprised 
17 years in human 

resource management and human resource 
development in the Commonwealth Public 
Service. Lee is the Alternate Chairperson of 
the NTGPASS Investment and Review Board 

(2002-2007) and is a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. Lee was 
honoured as the Northern Territory Rural 
Woman of the Year for 2004.

Brian Mappas
Director Employee Relations

Brian Mappas 
joined the OCPE 
in 1996 following 
over ten years in 
employee relations 
in the Department 
of Employment, 
Education and 
Training. He has 
extensive senior 
experience in 

industrial relations and human resource 
management. Brian holds a Bachelor of 
Business (majoring in Management) and an 
Associate Degree in Legal Studies.

Danielle Cross
Director Strategic Workforce Planning 
and Development

Danielle Cross has 
held the position of 
Director Strategic 
Workforce Planning 
and Development 
since December 
2006. Danielle 
has wide public 
sector experience, 
particularly 
in training, 

development and change management. 
She has worked in the Department of the 
Chief Minister; Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Environment; Department of 
Employment, Education and Training; and 
Department of Corporate and Information 
Services. Danielle holds a Bachelor of 
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Education, Diploma of Education (Adult 
Education) and a Graduate Certificate in 
Public Sector Leadership.

Michael Leonard
Director Corporate Management

Michael Leonard 
was appointed 
to the position of 
Director Corporate 
Management in 
December 2004. 
He was previously 
the Manager 
Support Services 
with the former 
Department of 

Infrastructure, Planning and Environment and 
was responsible for implementation of the 
Motor Vehicle Registry eGovernment project. 
Michael joined the NTPS in 1987 as an 
administrative trainee and has experience in 
all aspects of management.

Erika Sauzier
Senior Consultant Central Australia

Erika Sauzier 
has been with the 
OCPE for the past 
eight years. She 
joined the NTPS 
in 1985, working 
her way up from 
a management 
cadet to her current 
position. She 
has held a range 

of positions in the personnel and human 
resources field during her career.

Role
The OCPE Management Board met  
monthly and was committed to ensuring  
the highest standards of integrity, ethical  
behaviour, transparency and accountability.  
The Board had a critical role in ensuring  
effective performance and accountability by:

ensuring the OCPE had clearly established  
 goals and objectives

ensuring strategies for achieving those  
 goals and objectives were appropriate and  
 understood by management and staff

identifying, analysing and mitigating risks to  
 the OCPE

monitoring quality control systems and,  
 where necessary, implementing corrective  
 action to improve the OCPE systems and  
 performance

operating as an audit committee for the  
 OCPE when required. 
 
Management Board decisions were conveyed 
to staff at staff meetings. These staff 
meetings were conducted at whole of office 
and business unit levels. The minutes were 
published on the OCPE’s staff-only intranet 
page and were accessible to all staff.

•

•

•

•

•

Justin Larkin
Workplace Advocate 
Justin joined the OCPE in July 2006 in the 
newly created role of the Workplace Advocate. 
Justin had previously worked for the 
Department of Employment, Education and 
Training and has exstensive experience in the 
industrial relations field. 
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Risk Management
Risk Management Services from the 
Department of the Chief Minister evaluated 
the OCPE Risk Management Plan. The plan 
will be updated in the 2007-2008 financial 
year to include recommendations from the 
evaluation.

The OCPE has a number of internal controls 
in place such as the Accounting and Property 
Manual, Financial Delegations and Human 
Resource Delegations to mitigate risk 
and ensure openness, transparency and 
accountability.

Community Engagement
As a central agency, the OCPE develops 
frameworks to support the government’s 
social and economic policies and seeks the 
views of public sector employees and other 
stakeholders as part of the development 
process.

In June 2004, the OCPE developed its 
Community Engagement Framework. The 
OCPE community includes all employees 
of the NTPS and their representatives. 
OCPE may also engage with a range of 
other stakeholders, including unions, tertiary 
institutions, community organisations and 
Northern Territory businesses and their 
employees. The framework will be updated 
in 2007-2008.

OCPE Rural and Remote 
Liaisons

OCPE Central Australia
The Central Australian office of the OCPE 
consists of a Central Australian Senior 
Consultant who works across the OCPE’s 
various Business Units: Employment 
Relations (ER), Strategic Workforce Planning 
and Development (SWP&D) and Promotions 
Appeal Board and Review (PAB&R) for the 
Southern Region. The role includes:

Employee Relations - ER policy advice,  
 redeployment and redundancy, Labour  
 Inspectorate

Strategic Workforce Planning and  
 Development – promotion of SWP&D  
 policies in the region, especially the  
 Remote Workforce Development Strategy  
 (RWDS) and Indigenous Employment and  
 Career Development Strategy (IECDS)

promotion appeals and reviews 

representing the OCPE on all regional  
 coordination forums

chairing the Strategic Workforce Issues  
 Action Group

helping to implement government policy  
 initiatives

managing the Alice Springs office.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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The OCPE engages with all remote Northern 
Territory Government employees to promote 
relevant initiatives and strategies, with a 
strong emphasis on the Remote Workforce 
Development Strategy. All workforce issues 
raised by remote employees are discussed 
and followed up, or referred to the most 
appropriate organisation.

Improving Communication Across 
the OCPE
Effective internal communications are 
important to the OCPE. Listed below are some 
initiatives that enhance communication within 
the OCPE.

Business Unit Meetings
Business Unit Directors held both regular 
meetings to provide information and receive 
feedback on OCPE issues as well as 
meetings on specific issues as the need 
arose.

Meetings with Commissioner
The Commissioner held informal meetings 
with all staff throughout the year on an as 
needs basis. This provided a chance to 
engage with staff in an informal environment, 
discuss achievements and vision for the 
OCPE and discuss how each staff member 
and business unit contributes towards meeting 
these goals.

Internet and Intranet
The OCPE maintains Internet and Intranet 
sites to provide timely and relevant 
information. Both sites were reviewed in 
2006-2007.

In 2007-2008 the sites will be rebuilt to 
incorporate the new Northern Territory 
Government branding. A second stage of the 
project will capitalise on new technology to 
make the site more dynamic and user friendly.

Sharing Information
The OCPE has a strong corporate 
commitment to sharing information and 
management encourages staff members to 
adopt this collaborative approach to work.

Circulation of Minutes and Reports
The Management Board supports the 
dissemination of minutes and notes 
throughout the OCPE for the information of 
staff. Management Board minutes are posted 
on the Intranet and Coordination Committee 
reports are circulated for staff information.

Boards and Committees
In support of its core business, the OCPE is 
represented on many national and Northern 
Territory boards and committees. A full list is in 
the Appendix, page 99.
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Improving Communication 
with Clients and Stakeholders

New Territory Newsletter
New Territory is a sector-wide newsletter 
designed for Northern Territory Government 
employees living and working in remote 
areas. This newsletter provides information 
on initiatives of relevance to remote staff. The 
newsletter is published on the OCPE website 
and sent out to remote employees.

Records Management
Part 9 of the Records and Archives 
Management of the Northern Territory 
Information Act (NT) sets records 
management standards. Section 134 of the 
Act requires NTPS agencies to manage 
records in compliance with the 
Northern Territory Government records 
management standards.

Adequate records management underpins the 
access, correction and privacy components of 
the Act by ensuring that government records 
can be located, read and reproduced in 
response to requests. The OCPE has reported 
to the Northern Territory Archives Service 
(NTAS) in accordance with Section 134 of the Act.

Projects still in progress at the conclusion of 
2006-2007:

A review of the OCPE policies and  
 statements was in progress to ensure  
 compliance with the NTG Records  
 Management Standards prior to the  
 Department of Chief Minister (DCM)  
 and the OCPE Records Management Unit  
 merger. The review has been delayed and  
 a subsequent review will need to be  
 undertaken to align the agencies’ activities  
 in the following areas (see Table 3  
 over page).   

•

eCooee Newsletter
eCooee newsletter provides support and 
information to Indigenous staff in the NTPS, 
by providing information on a range of training 
and career development opportunities, 
community events and other issues. The 
newsletter is published on the OCPE website.

Information Management

Information Technology
The OCPE operates within the standard 
Northern Territory Government information 
technology server environment called Active 
Directory. The OCPE desktops are Windows 
Intel based hardware, running both Windows 
XP operating system and Office applications.
Projects in progress at the conclusion of 2006-
2007 include:

redesign of the OCPE internet website to  
 comply with Northern Territory Government  
 branding guidelines

implementation of a staff notice board  
 database.

•

•
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Table 3 – Records Management Activities

NTG Records Management Standard OCPE Compliance

Planning and implementing records 
management

- Corporate records management plan 2004-2005

Identifying and capturing records - Records management policy statement

Classifying and titling records - Register of thesaurus amendments

Records security and access - Records security and access statement

Records disposal - Statement of records disposal actions

Anticipated significant records management 
events for 2007-2008:

Merging of the OCPE records management  
 functions with the Department of the  
 Chief Minister.

Information Act
The OCPE supports an open and accountable 
government by making information available 
to stakeholders and interested members 
of the community in accordance with the 
Information Act (NT). The OCPE strives to 
make information of interest available to any 
interested party, where such information does 
not interfere with the essential public interest, 
individual privacy or the effective operation of 
the agency.

•

In most cases, employees can obtain 
their own employment related information 
held by the OCPE more quickly under the 
provisions of the Public Sector Employment 
and Management Act, rather than applying 
for access under the Information Act. More 
information is published on our internet site at: 
www.ocpe.nt.gov.au/foi.

In 2006-2007 the agency received two 
information access requests, one for access 
to personal information and the other for 
government information as outlined in the 
following table (Table 4).
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Table 4 – Applications Under the Information Act

Applications under the Information Act 2005-06 2006-07

Open applications carried forward from prior year � 0

Requests to access personal information 0 �

Requests to access government information 3 �

Requests withdrawn 0 0

Requests transferred in full 0 �

Requests completed within 30 days 0 0

Requests taking more than 30 days to complete 4 �

Open applications at end of year 0 0

Privacy
The Information Act (NT) establishes ten 
Information Privacy Principles to govern the 
collection, use, storage and management of 
personal information by Northern Territory 
Government agencies. In accordance with this 
Act, the OCPE:

respects the privacy of individuals

is committed to collecting, using, storing   
 and managing personal information in a  
 manner that complies with the Information  
 Privacy Principles

•

•

undertakes to protect such information 
 from unauthorised access and disclosure,  
 and to hold such information for only that  
 period required by the legislation, business  
 needs, or historical or cultural reasons  
 associated with the function for which the  
 information is collected

will take reasonable steps to correct  
 personal information if appropriate. 
 
There were no privacy breach notifications 
reported in 2006-2007.

 
 

•

•
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Our 
People

Our People

Part 4
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Introduction
The Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OCPE) is committed to 
establishing and maintaining a leading 
edge, strategic approach to human resource 
management. It endeavours to provide 
the highest standards of human resource 
management practices, embraces continuous 
improvement, lifelong learning and work life 
balance, and ensures all employees contribute 
to the development of the OCPE.

Achievements In 2006-2007 
 
The OCPE: 

celebrated the achievements of a  
 number of employees including:

two staff completed formal studies and  
 two apprentices completed a Certificate  
 III in Business Administration in early  
 2007

piloted the Reaching Your Potential  
 Performance Management Program for  
 employees, as well as implementing a more  
 specific performance management  
 framework for the senior team and

developed a Mobility and Exchange  
 Program, which will be finalised  
 in 2007-2008.

•

»

•

•

Workforce Management

Demographics
Table 5 - Snapshot at 30 June 2007

Number % of Staffing

Full time equivalent 42.61 95

Staff employed 45 �00

Regional staff � 2

Female staff 27 60

Average age of staff 41 92

Indigenous staff 2 4
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Number % of Staffing

Staff identifying as having a disability � 2

Staff from a non-English speaking background 4 9

Separation – permanent staff 5 ��

Separation – temporary staff 7 �5

Table 6 - Number of Employees - Trend

Business Unit 2003/2004 2004/2005 2005/2006 2006/2007

Corporate Management �0 9 �� 8

Strategic Workforce Planning and 
Development

�7 13 20 9

Employee Relations �7* 20* 20* 22**

Promotions Appeal Board and Review 4 4 5 3

Executive 3 4 4 3

TOTAL 51 50 60 45

* Includes employees associated with developing and implementing the Portability of Long Service Leave Scheme for 

the building and construction industry.

** Includes 7 NT Build and 1 Workplace Advocate

Table 5 Cont...
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Chart 1 - Position Allocations Across the OCPE
 

Graph 3 - Gender by Classification
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Establishment Of Nt Build
Organisational 
Restructure and Changes 

Establishment of NT Build
NT Build was established in 2004-2005 
to implement the Portability of Long 
Service Leave scheme for the building and 
construction industry. NT Build is not a 
separate agency within the meaning of the 
Financial Management Act or the Public 
Sector Employment and Management Act. 
As such, the staff of NT Build are OCPE 
employees who are made available to 
assist the NT Build Board under a full cost 
recovery arrangement agreed between the 
Commissioner and the NT Build Board.

Establishment of the 
Northern Territory Workplace Advocate
The Northern Territory Workplace Advocate 

was established on 2 May 2006 for an 
initial 12 months to provide an information, 
consultation and advisory service to assist 
Territory workers, employers and their 
representatives with work-related matters and 
to promote fair and productive workplaces 
in the Territory.

Recruitment
The OCPE recruitment advertising expenses 
for 2006-2007 were $29 890.

OCPE Indigenous Employment and 
Career Development Strategy 
2002-2006
The OCPE remains committed to increasing 
the number of Indigenous public sector 
employees. It took part in the National 
Indigenous Cadetship Program and facilitated 
a number of secondments and temporary 
transfers into the OCPE in 2006-2007.

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14
E0

5C

E0
2C

E0
1C E0

1

A
08

A
07

A
06

A
05

A
04

A
03

A
02

A
01

N
TP

SA

Graph 4 - Staffing by Classification
 



6�Annual Report 2006-2007

Willing and Able Strategy
The OCPE is committed to employing people 
with disabilities. The Human Resource (HR) 
Officer participated on the Willing and Able 
Strategy Implementation Team with key 
agency HR representatives. 

The OCPE recognises that employees with 
disabilities may have special requirements 
and incorporates flexible practices in its 
recruitment and workplace arrangements to 
ensure equity and diversity in the workforce. 
It has continued to work with Disability Works 
Australia and Project Employment.

Flexible Working 
Practices and Work Life Balance
The OCPE strongly promotes work life 
balance as part of its corporate culture and 
has supported a number of family friendly and 
flexible arrangements to help achieve this 
balance. 

Flexible arrangements have included 
supporting staff who requested a move from 
full-time to part-time work and investigating 
possible job share options. Support has also 
been provided to staff wanting to develop 
their skills in the private sector or Australian 
Government employment.

Equity and Diversity
The OCPE implemented a number of equal 
opportunity initiatives and strategies in 
2006-2007.

Diversity Analysis for Equal Employment 
Opportunity Census Day
The OCPE held an Equal Employment 
Opportunity (EEO) Census Day to update staff 
details in myHR. As at 30 June 2007, the OCPE 
statistics reflected the following percentages of 
overall staff numbers (Table 7):

Table 7 – Staff Equity and Diversity Trend

 
June 
2004

%
June 
2005

%
June 
2006

%
June 
2007

%

Female staff 35 68 36 73 44 73 27 60

Aboriginal / Torres Strait Islander 3 6 6* �2 3 5 2 4

Non-English speaking background, came 
to Australia after age five

� 2 3 5.5 3 5 4 9

Disability 2 4 4 9 4 7 � 2

* Includes two cadets completing the National Indigenous Cadetship Program.
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Learning and Development 
Induction
The OCPE makes an extensive induction 
available to all new staff that covers all 
aspects of employment conditions and OCPE 
policies and procedures.

Employment Programs
The OCPE employed two apprentices in 
2006-2007. Both graduated with a Certificate 
III in Business Administration in early 2007.
The OCPE again took part in the National 
Indigenous Cadetship Program (NICP) in 
2006-2007 with the recruitment of one female 
Indigenous cadet. 

Training
A total of $113 864 was spent on training in 
2006-2007. The OCPE helped several staff 
attend training and professional development 
activities, including conferences and 
workshops to keep abreast of contemporary 
human resources and workforce development 
issues. Training activities focused on:

leadership

strategic and contemporary human  
 resources

information technology (IT) and  
 technical skills.

Study Assistance
Employees are encouraged to apply for 
study assistance. This may include financial 
support through reimbursement of fees, study 
expenses, and time off work to attend lectures 

•

•

•

and exams. In 2006-2007 staff undertook 
study in the following fields:

Certificate III in Business

Certificate IV in Government Pilot  
 Program

Doctor of Philosophy (Thesis: Why are  
 Women and Men Paid Differently?)

Bachelor of Psychology

Graduate Certificate in Public Governance

Public Sector Management Program

Bachelor of Business - One employee  
 completed a Bachelor of Business  
 specialising in management and marketing.  
 At a Charles Darwin University (CDU) prize  
 night in May 2007, Michelle May was  
 awarded the Bachelor of Business Medal  
 (for the Business graduate receiving  
 the highest grade point average) and The  
 Australian Institute of Management Prize  
 for the Bachelor of Business majoring in  
 management.

Clear Writing Skills
Staff from Employee Relations and Strategic 
Workforce Planning and Development 
attended a Clear Writing Workshop designed 
to teach people how to write bureaucratic 
documents in plain English.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Performance Management

Performance Enhancement 
and Development
Performance reviews were conducted which 
identified future training, development, and 
study needs. The OCPE continues to facilitate 
development opportunities through higher 
duties and placements in other business 
units or agencies to broaden employees’ 
experience.

The OCPE continued to develop the 
“Reaching Your Potential” Performance 

Management Program, as well as 
implementing a more specific performance 
management framework for its senior team, 
which included assessment against executive 
capabilities and 360-degree feedback. 
These programs were evaluated and 
participation in the program was a priority for 
all staff and management during 2006-2007.

Reviews and 
Inability/Discipline Appeals
The following table (Table 8) indicates the 
number of reviews the OCPE has had during 
the period compared with previous years.

Table 8 – Number of Reviews and Inability/Discipline Appeals by the OCPE

Type 200�-2002 2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

Reviews 0 �* 0 0 �** �*

Sexual 
harassment or 
bullying

0 0 0 0 �# 0

Promotion 
appeals

0 0 0 0 0 �

Discipline and 
inability

0 � 0 0 0 0

* Grievance lodged against the OCPE but the person with the grievance was not an OCPE employee.

** Grievance lodged by NT Build staff.

# Bullying complaint received, but no formal grievance lodged. The complaint was formally managed and 

resolved internally.
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Occupational Health and Safety

Introduction
In 2006-2007 the OCPE’s Occupational Health 
and Safety (OH&S) Committee continued to 
implement recommendations from the OH&S 
audit. The Committee, which met every three 
months, publishes a bi-monthly Handy Hint 
to staff by email as well as coordinating Well 
Mind, Well Body, Well Workplace (Well, Well, 
Well) activities.

The OCPE supports and encourages 
participation in well-being programs and social 
sporting events.

Twelve staff members were vaccinated 
against influenza. Partners were invited to 
participate and three accepted.

The Chief Fire Warden for Harbour View Plaza 
is an OCPE employee who coordinated one 
fire/evacuation drill for the building in 2006-
2007. One session of informal training for Fire 
Wardens in the building was undertaken in 
2006-2007, with formal Fire Warden training to 
be undertaken in November 2007.

Workers’ Compensation Claims
The following table (Table 9) shows the number of workers’ compensation (WC) claims and associated 
costs:

Table 9 – Workers’ Compensation Claims

 200�-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07

Number of claims at the beginning 
of the financial year

2 � 2 � � �

Number of new claims processed � 0 � 0 0 �

Number of claims resolved 0 0 � 0 � 2

Number of staff with current open 
claims

� � � � 0 0

Number of staff currently in 
receipt of WC payments

0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Cost $9 758 $17 095 $1 147 $2 199 $9 461 $8 443
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Accident/Incident Reports
There were no accident/incident reported by employees, as shown in the table below (Table 10).

Table 10 – Incident/Accident Reports

 200�-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07

Number of the OCPE accidents/
incidents (bruises, cuts, falls, etc).

3 2 � � � �

Future Priorities

OCPE Strategic Plan
The OCPE Strategic Plan 2005-2010 was 
developed in June 2005 and will be updated in 
2007-2008.

Community Engagement Framework
The OCPE Community Engagement 
Framework was developed in June 2004 and 
will be updated in 2007-2008.
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Financial 
Reporting

Financial Reporting

Part 5
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The 2006-2007 financial statements and notes for the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OPCE) have been prepared on an accrual basis and are consistent with the adoption 
of the Australian equivalent to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The statements 
provide information on the financial performance, position and cash flow of the agency for the 
financial year ending 30 June 2007.

Statement of Financial Performance
For the year ended 30 June 2007, the OCPE recorded a surplus of $275 000. The surplus is the 
result of postponing some Workforce Development and Career Mapping Programs to the 
2007-2008 financial year. 

2007 
$ 000

2006 
$ 000

Variance 
$ 000

Revenue 8 240 8 104  136

Expenses 7 965 7 755  2�0

Surplus/ (Deficit)  275  349  (74)

Financial Statement Overview

Chart 2 – Operating Revenue

Operating revenue increased 
by $136 000 compared to 
the previous financial year. 
The major contribution to the 
increase was funding for the 
relocation of the Employee 
Assistance Scheme ($77 
000) and for Strengthening 
the Public Sector – Career 
Mapping Program ($230 000). 
The increase was offset by 
decreases in goods and services 
revenue and revenue for goods 
and services received free of 
charge. 

Goods Services Free 
of Charges 9% Agency Revenue

�6%

Output Revenue 
75%

For The Year Ended 30 June 2007
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Chart 3 – Operational Expenses

Overall operating expenses increased by $210 000 compared to the previous financial year. 
Employee expenses increased by $540 000, grants by $367 000 and depreciation by $32 000. 
This increase was offset by decreases in goods and services expenses and other administrative 
expenses. Increases in employee expenses were due to the filling of positions held vacant in the 
previous year and Enterprise Bargaining Agreement (EBA) salary increases. Grant expenses were 
higher in 2006-2007 as the majority of funding for the Remote Workforce Development Program 
was paid out as grants. The decrease in the purchase of goods and services is the result of the 
deferral of some Workforce Development and Career Mapping programs from 2006-2007 to 2007-
2008.

13%

�%

��%
��%

64%

Personnel  Depreciation and Amortisation  Grants   
Administration  Services Received Free of Charge

Statement Of Financial Position 

2007 
$ 000

2006 
$ 000

Variance 
$ 000

Assets  328  �02  226

Liabilities  942  991  (49)

Net Assets  (613)  (889)  275
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As at 30 June 2007, the OCPE’s assets had increased by $226 000. This is largely due to cash at 
bank of $173 000 compared to the previous financial year overdraft of $198 000. This was offset by 
a decrease in property, plant and equipment as some assets were fully depreciated. 

Liabilities have decreased by $49 000 compared to the previous year, this was largely the result of 
invoices being paid in a timely manner.

Statement of Cash Flow
The statement of cash flow takes into account receipts and payments. This financial year the 
overall inflow of cash was greater than the overall outflow of cash, resulting in a net increase in 
cash of $371 000. The total cash balance at the end of the year was $173 000.

2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

Variance
$ 000

Cash at Beginning  (198) 1158  226

Net Movement  371 (1356)  (49)

Cash at End  173  (198)  275
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Certification of the Financial Statements

We certify that the attached financial statements for the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment have been prepared from proper accounts and records in accordance with the 
prescribed format, the Financial Management Act and Treasurer’s Directions.

We further state that the information set out in the Operating Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement 
of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, and notes to and forming part of the financial 
statements, presents fairly the financial performance and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 
2007 and the financial position on that date.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

………………………………….
Ken Simpson
Commissioner for Public Employment
31 August 2007

 
………………………………….
Karl Dyason
Chief Finance Officer
31 August 2007
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EXPENSES 

Employee Expenses 4573 4033

Administrative Expenses

Purchases of Goods and Services 5 1758 2332

Repairs and Maintenance  5 7

Depreciation and Amortisation �0 88 56

Other Administrative Expenses 764 917

Grants and Subsidies Expenses

Current 777 410

Capital

Community Service Obligations

Interest Expenses

TOTAL EXPENSES 3 7965 7755

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 12 275 349

(1) Includes DCIS Service Charges

The Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Operating Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2007

NOTE 2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

INCOME

Taxation Revenue

Grants and Subsidies Revenue

Current

Capital

Output Revenue 6197 5830

Sales of Goods and Services 1284 1364

Interest Revenue

Goods and Services Received Free of Charge 4 763 891

Gain on Disposal of Assets 

Other Income (4) 18

TOTAL INCOME 3 8240 8104

 
………………………………….
Karl Dyason
Chief Finance Officer
31 August 2007

(1)
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Balance sheet
For the Year Ended 30 June 2007

NOTE 2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and Deposits 6 173 (198)
Receivables 7 88 87
Inventories

Advances and Investments 

Pre-payments 58
Other Assets 

Total Current Assets 261 (54)
Non-Current Assets

Receivables 7
Advances and Investments
Property, Plant and Equipment 8 67 �56
Pre-payments
Other Assets 

Total Non-Current Assets 67 156
TOTAL ASSETS 328 102

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

 Deposits Held
 Payables 9 (242) (339)
 Borrowings and Advances
 Provisions �0 (487) (500)
 Other Liabilities �� (18) (29)

Total Current Liabilities (747) (868)
Non-Current Liabilities
 Borrowings and Advances
 Provisions �0 (195) (123)
 Other Liabilities ��
Total Non-Current Liabilities (195) (123)
TOTAL LIABILITIES (942) (991)

NET ASSETS (613) (889)

EQUITY 12
 Capital (282) (282)
 Reserves
 Accumulated Funds (331) (607)
TOTAL EQUITY (613) (889)

The Balance Sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of Changes Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2007

NOTE  2007
$ 000

 2006
$ 000

BALANCE OF EQUITY AT 1 JULY (889) (382)

CAPITAL 12

Balance at 1 July (282) 573

Equity Injections 426

Equity Withdrawals (1282)

Balance at 30 June (282) (283)

RESERVES 12

Balance at 1 July

Changes in Accounting Policies

Correction of Prior Period Errors

Increase/(Decrease) in Asset  
Revaluation Reserve 

Balance at 30 June

ACCUMULATED FUNDS 12

Balance at 1 July (607) (956)

Changes in Accounting Policies 

Correction of Prior Period Errors

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Period 275 349

Gains/(Losses) Recognised Directly in Equity 

Balance at 30 June (331) (606)

BALANCE OF EQUITY AT 30 JUNE (613) (889)

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED DIRECTLY TO EQUITY 

This Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2007

NOTE 2007 
$ 000

2006 
$ 000

(Outflows)  
/ Inflows

(Outflows)  
/ Inflows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
OPERATING RECEIPTS

Taxes Received
Grants and Subsidies Received

Current
Capital

Output Revenue Received 6197 5830
Receipts From Sales of Goods and Services 1442 1304
Interest Received

TOTAL OPERATING RECEIPTS 7639 7134
OPERATING PAYMENTS

Payments to Employees (4458) (4049)
Payments for Goods and Services (2033) (3046)
Grants and Subsidies Paid

Current (777) (410)
Capital
Community Service Obligations

Interest Paid
TOTAL OPERATING PAYMENTS (7268) (7505)
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 13 371 (371)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
INVESTING RECEIPTS

Proceeds from Asset Sales
Repayment of Advances 
Sales of Investments

TOTAL INVESTING RECEIPTS
INVESTING PAYMENTS

Purchases of Assets 8
Advances and Investing Payments

TOTAL INVESTING PAYMENTS
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
FINANCING RECEIPTS

Proceeds of Borrowings 
Deposits Received
Equity Injections �2

Capital Appropriation
Other Equity Injections

TOTAL FINANCING RECEIPTS
FINANCING PAYMENTS

Repayment of Borrowings
Finance Lease Payments 18
Equity Withdrawals �2 (985)

TOTAL FINANCING PAYMENTS (985)
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (985)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HELD 371 (1356)
CASH AT BEGINNING OF FINANCIAL YEAR (198) 1158

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 6 173 (198)

The Cash Flow Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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2. Statement of 
Significant Accounting Policies

(A) Basis of Accounting
The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of 
the Financial Management Act and related 
Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial 
Management Act requires the OCPE to 
prepare financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June, based on the form determined 
by the Treasurer. The form of Agency financial 
statements is to include:

(i)  a Certification of the Financial   
 Statements

(ii)  an Operating Statement

(iii)  a Balance Sheet

(iv)  a Statement of Changes in Equity

(v)  a Cash Flow Statement

(vi) applicable explanatory notes to the   
 financial statements. 

The form of Agency financial statements is 
consistent with the accrual budget format and 
the requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards (AAS), including AASB 101, AASB 
107 and AAS 29. The format also requires 
additional disclosures specific to Northern 
Territory Government entities.

The financial statements have been prepared 
using the accrual basis of accounting, which 
recognises the effect of financial transactions 
and events when they occur, rather than when 
cash is paid out or received. As part of the 
preparation of the financial statements, all 
intra-agency transactions and balances have 
been eliminated. 

1. Objectives And Funding
The Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment’s (OCPE) mission is to lead 
and coordinate the development of a skilled, 
committed and strategically aligned workforce 
to achieve quality innovative government 
services for the Northern Territory community.

This will be achieved through:

collaborating with Northern Territory  
 Public Sector chief executive officers and  
 human resource mangers to build a  
 creative and innovative workforce, skilled to  
 meet the needs of the future

taking a leadership role in the identification  
 of strategic shifts, trends and contemporary  
 public sector workforce practice

coordinating across agencies to ensure an  
 integrated, whole of government approach.

The OCPE is predominantly funded by  
Parliamentary appropriation. The financial  
statements encompass all funds through  
which the agency controls resources to carry 
on the functions.

•

•

•
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Except where stated, the financial statements 
have also been prepared in accordance with 
the historical cost convention.

(B) Agency and Territory Items
The financial statements of the OCPE include 
income, expenses, assets, liabilities and 
equity over which the OCPE has control 
(Agency items). Certain items, while managed 
by the Agency, are controlled and recorded by 
the Territory rather than the Agency (Territory 
items). Territory items are recognised and 
recorded in the Central Holding Authority as 
discussed below.

Central Holding Authority
The Central Holding Authority is the ‘parent 
body’ that represents the government’s 
ownership interest in government controlled 
entities. 

The Central Holding Authority also records all 
Territory items, such as income, expenses, 
assets and liabilities controlled by the 
government and managed by Agencies on 
behalf of the government. The main Territory 
item is Territory income, which includes 
taxation and royalty revenue, Commonwealth 
general purpose funding (such as Goods and 
Services Tax revenue), fines, and statutory fees 
and charges. 

The Central Holding Authority also holds 
certain Territory assets not assigned to 
Agencies as well as certain Territory liabilities 
that are not practical or effective to assign 
to individual Agencies such as unfunded 
superannuation and long service leave.

The Central Holding Authority recognises 
and records all Territory items, and as such, 
these items are not included in the Agency’s 

financial statements. However, as the Agency 
is accountable for certain Territory items 
managed on behalf of government, these 
items have been separately disclosed in note 
23 - Schedule of Territory Items.

(C) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information 
for the 2005-2006 financial year has been 
reclassified to provide consistency with current 
year disclosures.

(D) Presentation and 
Rounding of Amounts

Amounts in the financial statements and notes 
to the financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars and have been rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars, with amounts of 
$500 or less being rounded down to zero.

(E) Changes in Accounting Policies
There have been no changes to accounting 
policies adopted in 2006-2007 as a result of 
management decisions. 

(F) Goods and Services Tax
Income, expenses and assets are recognised 
net of the amount of Goods and Services 
Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST 
incurred on a purchase of goods and services 
is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation 
Office (ATO). In these circumstances the GST 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of the expense.
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Receivables and payables are stated with the 
amount of GST included. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
is included as part of receivables or payables 
in the Balance Sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow 
Statement on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which 
are recoverable from, or payable to, the 
ATO are classified as operating cash flows. 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 
net of the amount of GST recoverable or 
payable unless otherwise specified.

(G) Income Recognition
Income encompasses both revenue and gains.

Income is recognised at the fair value of 
the consideration received, exclusive of the 
amount of GST. Exchanges of goods or 
services of the same nature and value without 
any cash consideration being exchanged are 
not recognised as income.

Output Revenue
Output revenue represents government 
funding for Agency operations and is 
calculated as the net cost of Agency outputs 
after taking into account funding from Agency 
income. The net cost of Agency outputs for 
Output Appropriation purposes does not 
include any allowance for major non-cash 
costs such as depreciation. 

Revenue in respect of this funding is 
recognised in the period in which the Agency 
gains control of the funds.

Grants and Other Contributions
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-
reciprocal contributions are recognised as 
revenue when the Agency obtains control 
over the assets comprising the contributions. 
Control is normally obtained upon receipt.

Contributions are recognised at their fair 
value. Contributions of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would be 
purchased if not donated. 

Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised 
(net of returns, discounts and allowances) 
when control of the goods passes to the 
customer and specified conditions associated 
with the sale have been satisfied.

Rendering of Services
Revenue from rendering services is 
recognised on a stage of completion basis.

Interest Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, 
taking into account the effective yield on the 
financial asset.

Contributions of Assets
Contributions of assets and contributions 
to assist in the acquisition of assets, being 
non-reciprocal transfers, are recognised, 
unless otherwise determined by government, 
as gains when the Agency obtains control 
of the asset or contribution. Contributions 
are recognised at the fair value received or 
receivable.
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(H) Repairs and 
Maintenance Expenses

Funding is received for repairs and 
maintenance works associated with Agency 
assets as part of Output Revenue. Costs 
associated with repairs and maintenance 
works on Agency assets are expensed as 
incurred. 

(I) Interest Expenses
Interest expenses include interest and 
finance lease charges. Interest expenses 
are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred.

(J) Cash And Deposits
For the purposes of the Balance Sheet and 
the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes cash 
on hand, cash at bank and cash equivalents. 
Cash equivalents are highly liquid, short-
term investments that are readily convertible 
to cash. Cash at bank includes monies held 
in the Accountable Officer’s Trust Account 
(AOTA) that are ultimately payable to the 
beneficial owner – refer also to note 14.

(K) Receivables
Receivables include accounts receivable and 
other receivables and are recognised at fair 
value less any allowance for uncollectible 
amounts. The collectibility of receivables is 
reviewed regularly, and part of this process 
is to assess, at reporting date, whether an 
allowance for doubtful debts is required.
Accounts receivable are generally settled 
within 30 days and other receivables 
within 30 days. 

(L) Property, Plant and Equipment
Acquisitions
All items of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost, or other value, equal to or greater 
than $5000 are recognised in the year of 
acquisition and depreciated as outlined below. 
Items of property, plant and equipment below 
the $5000 threshold are expensed in the year 
of acquisition. 

The construction cost of property, plant and 
equipment includes the cost of materials and 
direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of 
fixed and variable overheads.

Complex Assets
Major items of plant and equipment 
comprising a number of components that 
have different useful lives, are accounted for 
as separate assets. The components may be 
replaced during the useful life of the complex 
asset.

Subsequent Additional Costs
Costs incurred on property, plant and 
equipment subsequent to initial acquisition 
are capitalised when it is probable that future 
economic benefits in excess of the originally 
assessed performance of the asset will flow to 
the Agency in future years. Where these costs 
represent separate components of a complex 
asset, they are accounted for as separate 
assets and are separately depreciated over 
their expected useful lives.



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment80

Construction (Work in Progress)
As part of Financial Management Framework, 
the Department of Planning and Infrastructure 
(DPI) is responsible for managing general 
government capital works projects on a whole 
of government basis. Therefore appropriation 
for capital works is provided directly to the DPI 
and the cost of construction work in progress 
is recognised as an asset of that Department. 
Once completed, capital works assets are 
transferred to the Agency. 

Revaluations
Subsequent to initial recognition, assets 
belonging to the following classes of non-
current assets are re-valued with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount 
of these assets does not differ materially from 
their fair value at reporting date: 

land

buildings

infrastructure assets

heritage and cultural assets

biological assets

intangibles. 
 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset 
could be exchanged, or liability settled, 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arms-length transaction. Other classes of non-
current assets are not subject to revaluation 
and are measured at cost.

•

•

•

•

•

•

The unique nature of some of the heritage 
and cultural assets may preclude reliable 
measurement. Such assets have not been 
recognised in the financial statements. 

Depreciation and Amortisation
Items of property, plant and equipment, 
including buildings but excluding land, have 
limited useful lives and are depreciated or 
amortised using the straight-line method over 
their estimated useful lives.

Amortisation applies in relation to intangible 
non-current assets with limited useful lives 
and is calculated and accounted for in a 
similar manner to depreciation.

The estimated useful lives for each class of 
asset are in accordance with the Treasurer’s 
Directions and are determined as follows:

2007 2006

Plant and 
Equipment

5 Years 5 Years

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the 
date of acquisition or from the time an asset is 
completed and held ready for use.
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Impairment of Assets
An asset is said to be impaired when 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 

Non-current physical and intangible Agency 
assets are assessed for indicators of 
impairment on an annual basis. If an indicator 
of impairment exists, the Agency determines 
the asset’s recoverable amount. The asset’s 
recoverable amount is determined as the 
higher of the asset’s depreciated replacement 
cost and fair value less costs to sell. Any 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded 
as an impairment loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in the 
Operating Statement unless the asset is 
carried at a re-valued amount. Where the 
asset is measured at a re-valued amount, the 
impairment loss is offset against the Asset 
Revaluation Reserve for that class of asset, to 
the extent that an available balance exists in 
the Asset Revaluation Reserve.

In certain situations an impairment loss 
may subsequently be reversed. Where an 
impairment loss is subsequently reversed, 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised in the Operating Statement as 
income, unless the asset is carried at a re-
valued amount, in which case the impairment 
reversal results in an increase in the Asset 
Revaluation Reserve. Note 8 provides 
additional information in relation to the Asset 
Revaluation Reserve.

(M) Leased Assets
Leases under which the Agency assumes 
substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of ownership of an asset are classified as 
finance leases. Other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

Finance Leases
Finance leases are capitalised. A leased 
asset and a lease liability equal to the present 
value of the minimum lease payments are 
recognised at the inception of the lease.
Lease payments are allocated between the 
principal component of the lease liability and 
the interest expense.

Operating Leases
Operating lease payments made at regular 
intervals throughout the term are expensed 
when the payments are due, except where 
an alternative basis is more representative 
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from 
the leased property. Lease incentives under 
an operating lease of a building or office 
space is recognised as an integral part of 
the consideration for the use of the leased 
asset. The lease incentive is recognised as a 
deduction of the lease expense over the term 
of the lease. 
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(N) Payables
Liabilities for accounts payable and other 
amounts payable are carried at cost, which is 
the fair value of the consideration to be paid 
in the future for goods and services received, 
whether or not billed to the Agency. Accounts 
payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(O) Employee Benefits 
Provision is made for employee benefits 
accumulated as a result of employees 
rendering services up to the reporting date. 
These benefits include wages and salaries 
and recreation leave. Liabilities arising in 
respect of wages and salaries and recreation 
leave, and other employee benefit liabilities 
that fall due within twelve months of reporting 
date, are classified as current liabilities and 
are measured at amounts expected to be 
paid. Non-current employee benefit liabilities 
that fall due after twelve months of the 
reporting date are measured at present value, 
calculated using the government long-term 
bond rate.

No provision is made for sick leave, which 
is non-vesting, as the anticipated pattern of 
future sick leave to be taken is less than the 
entitlement accruing in each reporting period. 
Employee benefit expenses are recognised 
on a net basis in respect of the following 
categories:

wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits,  
 recreation leave, sick leave and other leave  
 entitlements

other types of employee benefits. 
 
As part of the Financial Management 
Framework, the Central Holding Authority 
assumes the long service leave liabilities of 
government Agencies, including the OCPE 
and, as such, no long service leave liability is 
recognised in Agency financial statements. 

(P) Superannuation
Employees’ superannuation entitlements are 
provided through the:

Northern Territory Government and 
 Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme  
 (NTGPASS)

Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme  
 (CSS)

non-government employee nominated  
 schemes for those employees commencing  
 on or after 10 August 1999.

The Agency makes superannuation 
contributions on behalf of its employees 
to the Central Holding Authority or non-
government employee nominated schemes. 
Superannuation liabilities related to 
government superannuation schemes are 
held by the Central Holding Authority and, as 
such, are not recognised in Agency financial 
statements. 

•

•

•

•

•
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(Q) Contributions by and 
Distributions to Government

The Agency may receive contributions 
from Northern Territory Government where 
the government is acting as owner of the 
Agency. Conversely, the Agency may make 
distributions to government. In accordance 
with the Financial Management Act and 
Treasurer’s Directions, certain types of 
contributions and distributions, including 
those relating to administrative restructures, 
have been designated as contributions by, 
and distributions to, government. These 
designated contributions and distributions are 
treated by the Agency as adjustments to equity.
The Statement of Changes in Equity and note 
12 provide additional information in relation 
to contributions by, and distributions to, 
government.

(R) Commitments
Disclosures in relation to capital and other 
commitments, including lease commitments, 
are shown at note 18 and are consistent with 
the requirements contained in AASB 101, 
AASB 117 and AAS 29.

Commitments are those contracted as at 
30 June where the amount of the future 
commitment can be reliably measured.



Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment84

3. Operating Statement by Output Group
       

Note
Employee and Industrial 

Relations
Workforce Planning 
and Development

Appeals and Reviews
Northern Territory 

Workplace Advocate
Total

2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

INCOME 

Output Revenue 3099 2915 2213 2082 590 555 295 278 6197 5830

Sales of Goods and Services 642 682 458 487 �22 130 6� 65 1283 1364

Other Income (2) 9 (1) 6 (1) 2 � (4) 18

Goods and Services Received Free of 
Charge

4 382 446 273 318 73 85 36 42 764 891

Gain on Disposal of Assets

TOTAL INCOME 4121 4052 2943 2893 784 772 392 386 8240 8103

EXPENSES 

Employee Expenses 2287 20�6 1633 1440 435 384 218 193 4573 4033

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  

Purchases of Goods and Services 5 879 ��66 628 833 �67 222 84 ��� 1758 2332

Repairs and Maintenance 3 3 2 3 0 � 5 7

Depreciation and Amortisation 8 44 28 32 20 8 5 4 3 88 56

Other Administrative Expenses 382 458 273 328 73 87 36 44 764 917

GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES EXPENSES

Current 388 205 277 146 75 39 37 20 777 410

Capital

Loss on Disposal of Assets

TOTAL EXPENSES 3983 3876 2845 2770 758 738 379 371 7965 7755

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 12 138 176 98 123 26 34 13 15 275 348

This Operating Statement by Output Group is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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3. Operating Statement by Output Group
       

Note
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Relations
Workforce Planning 
and Development
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Northern Territory 

Workplace Advocate
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2007
$ 000
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2007
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2007
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2006
$ 000
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$ 000
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Goods and Services Received Free of 
Charge
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Gain on Disposal of Assets
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Other Administrative Expenses 382 458 273 328 73 87 36 44 764 917

GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES EXPENSES

Current 388 205 277 146 75 39 37 20 777 410

Capital

Loss on Disposal of Assets

TOTAL EXPENSES 3983 3876 2845 2770 758 738 379 371 7965 7755

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 12 138 176 98 123 26 34 13 15 275 348

This Operating Statement by Output Group is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

4. Goods And Services Received Free Of Charge

Corporate and Information Services (764) (891)

Internal Audits and Reviews

(764) (891)

5. Purchases Of Goods And Services

The net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at after charging the following expenses:

Goods and Services Expenses: 

Consultants (1) 337 662

Advertising (2) 5 �0

Marketing and Promotion (3) 36 30

Document Production 39 87

Legal Expenses (4) 19 18

Recruitment (5) 25 63

Training and Study 114 193

Official Duty Fares 86 ��7

Travelling Allowance 14 27

(1) Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants.
(2) Does not include recruitment advertising or marketing and promotion 

advertising.
(3) Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing 

and promotion consultants’ expenses, which are incorporated in the 
consultants’ category.

(4) Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs.
(5) Includes recruitment related advertising costs.  
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7. Receivables

Current

Accounts Receivable 56 60

Less Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

56 60

Interest Receivables

GST Receivables 31 27

Other Receivables

88 87

Non-Current

Other Receivables

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 88 87

2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

6. Cash and Deposits

Cash on Hand � �

Cash at Bank �72 (199)

On Call or Short Term Deposits

173 (198)
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2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

8. Property, Plant and Equipment

BUILDINGS

At Fair Value �06 �06

Less Accumulated Depreciation (75) (22)

31 84

CONSTRUCTION WORK IN PROGRESS 

At Capitilised Cost �7 �7

�7 �7

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At Cost �2� �2�

Less Accumulated Depreciation (101) (66)

20 55

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 67 156

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT VALUATIONS

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Agency property, plant and equipment assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2007. 
No impairment adjustments were required as a result of this review.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT RECONCILIATIONS
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end 
of 2006-2007 is set out below:

Buildings
Construction 

(Work in 
Progress)

Plant & 
Equipment

Total

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 1 JULY 2006 84 17 55 156

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation and Amortisation (53) (35) (88)

Additions/(Disposals) from Administrative 
Restructuring 

Additions/(Disposals) from Asset Transfers 

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements)

Impairment Losses

Impairment Losses Reversed

Other Movements

CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 30 JUNE 2007 31 17 20 68

CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 1 JULY 2005 0 17 91 108

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation and Amortisation (22) (33) (55)

Additions/(Disposals) from Administrative 
Restructuring 

�06 (3) 103

Additions/(Disposals) from Asset Transfers 

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements)

Impairment Losses

Impairment Losses Reversed

Other Movements

CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 84 17 55 156
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10. Provisions

CURRENT

Employee Benefits

Recreation Leave (356) (365)

Leave Loading (48) (54)

Other Employee Benefits (18) (35)

Other Current Provisions

Other Provisions (64) (46)

(487) (500)

NON CURRENT

Employee Benefits

Recreation Leave (195) (123)

(195) (123)

TOTAL PROVISIONS (682) (623)

2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

9. Payables

Accounts Payable (28) (157)

Accured Expenses (214) (182)

Other Payables

(242) (339)
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12. Equity

Equity represents the net deficiency in the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment 
liabilities over net assets. This deficiency in liabilities over assets is recorded in the Central 
Holding Authority as described in note 2(b).

CAPITAL

Balance as at 1 July (282) 573

Equity Injections

Capital Appropriation

Equity Transfers In 426

Equity Withdrawals

Capital Withdrawal (985)

Equity Transfers Out (297)

Balance as at 30 June (282) (282)

ACCUMULATED FUNDS

Balance as at 1 July (607) (956)

Surplus /(Deficit) for the Period 275 349

Changes in Accounting Policies

Correction of Prior Period Errors

Gains/(losses) Recognised Directly to Equity

Balance as at 30 June (331) (607)

2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

11. Other Liabilities

CURRENT

Current Liabilities (18) (29)

TOTAL LIABILITIES (18) (29)
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2007
$ 000

2006
$ 000

13. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

RECONCILLIATION OF CASH

The total of Agency Cash and Deposits of $173 000 recorded in the Balance Sheet is consistent 
with that recorded as ‘cash’ in the Cash Flow Statement.

RECONCILIATION OF NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) TO NET CASH FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 275 349

Non-Cash Items:

Depreciation and Amortisation 88 56

Asset Write-Offs/Write-Downs 26

Asset Write-Offs/Write-Downs

(Gain)/Loss on Disposal of Assets

Changes in Assets and Liabilities:

Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables (1) (1)

Decrease/(Increase) in Inventories 58 (58)

Decrease/(Increase) in Pre-payments

Decrease/(Increase) in Other Assets

(Decrease)/Increase in Payables (97) (516)

(Decrease)/Increase in Provision for Employee Benefits 40 34

(Decrease)/Increase in Other Provisions 19 (8)

(Decrease)/Increase in Other Liabilities (11) (253)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 371 (371)
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14. Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is a contract that gives 
rise to a financial asset of one entity and 
a financial liability or equity instrument of 
another entity. Financial instruments held by 
the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment (OCPE) include cash and 
deposits, receivables, payables and finance 
leases. The OCPE has limited exposure to 
financial risks as discussed below.

(A) Credit Risk
The Agency has limited credit risk exposure 
(risk of default). In respect of any dealings 
with organisations external to government, the 
Agency has adopted a policy of only dealing 
with credit worthy organisations and obtaining 
sufficient collateral, or other security where 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk 
of financial loss from defaults.

The carrying amount of financial assets 
recorded in the financial statements, net of 
any allowances for losses, represents the 
Agency’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
without taking account of the value of any 
collateral or other security obtained.

(B) Net Fair Value
The carrying amount of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recorded in the financial 
statements approximates their respective net 
fair values with the exception of borrowing 
from the Northern Territory Treasury 
Corporation.

(C) Interest Rate Risk
The OCPE has limited exposure to interest 
rate risk as Agency financial assets and 
financial liabilities. The OCPE’s exposure to 
interest rate risk and the average interest rate 
for classes of financial assets and financial 
liabilities is set out in the following tables. 
The average interest rate is based on the 
outstanding balance at the start of the year.
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FIXED INTEREST MATURITY

Weighted  
Average  
Interest 

Variable 
Interest

Under 1 
year

� to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Non-
Interest 
Bearing

Total

Rate % $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

2007 Financial Assets

Cash and Deposits 173 173

Receivables 88 88

Pre-payment

Total Financial Assets 26� 26�

Financial Liabilities

Payables (242) (242)

Total Financial Liabilities (242) (242)

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES)

19 19

FIXED INTEREST MATURITY

Weighted  
Average  
Interest 

Variable 
Interest

Under 1 
year

� to 5
years

Over 5 
years

Non-
Interest 
Bearing

Total

Rate % $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

2006 Financial Assets

Cash and Deposits (198) (198)

Receivables 87 87

Pre-payment 58 58

Total Financial Assets 53 53

Financial Liabilities

Payables (339) (339)

Total Financial Liabilities (339) (339)

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES)

(392) (392)
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15. Commitments

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Agency leases property under non-cancellable operating leases expiring from nil to 3 years. 
Leases generally provide the Agency with a right of renewal at which time all lease terms are 
renegotiated. The Agency also leases items of plant and equipment under non-cancellable 
operating leases. Future operating lease commitments not recognised as liabilities are payable 
as follows:  

Within a year 38 2�

Later than one year and not later than five years 99 39

Later than five years

137 60

16. Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets

(A) Contingent Liabilities
The OCPE maintains a register of Contingent 
Liabilities. Information is received, updated 
annually and reported to the Northern 
Territory Treasury for the inclusion in the 
whole of government report if applicable. The 
contingent liabilities are not reported in the 
Agency’s financial statements as they are not 
quantifiable.

(B) Contingent Assets
The OCPE had no contingent assets as at 30 
June 2007 or 30 June 2006.

17. Events Subsequent to 
Balance Date
No events have arisen between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report that 
require adjustment to, or disclosure, in these 
financial statements.
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Appendices

Part 6

Appendices 
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AIRC – Australian Industrial Relations Commission
AOTA – Accountable Officer’s Trust Account
ATO - Australian Taxation Office
CBAT – Competency Based Assessment and Training
CDU – Charles Darwin University
CFMEU – Construction, Forestry, Mining and Energy Union
CILSLB - Construction Industry Long Service Leave and Benefits Act
CSS – Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme
dAN – disAbility Awareness Network   
DBERD – Department of Business, Economic and Regional Development
DCIS – Department of Corporate and Information Services
DCM – Department of the Chief Minister
DEWR – Department of Employment and Workplace Relations
DHCS – Department of Health and Community Services
DEET – Department of Employment, Education and Training
DPIFM - Department of Primary Industry, Fisheries and Mines 
DLGHS - Department of Local Government, Housing and Sport 
EBA – Enterprise Bargaining Agreement
EEO – Equal Employment Opportunity
EI – Employment Instructions
ER – Employment Relations
FBT – Fringe Benefit Tax
FTE – Full Time Equivalent
GST – Goods and Services Tax
HIA – Housing Industry Association
HRD - Human Resource Development
HSR – Health and Safety Representative
IECDS – Indigenous Employment and Career Development Strategy
IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standards
ILO – International Labour Organisation
IPAA – Institute of Public Administration Australia
JAQ – Job Analysis Questionnaire
JES – Job Evaluation System
NICP – National Indigenous Cadetship Program
NRETA - Department of Natural Resources, Environment and the Arts 

Acronyms and Abbreviations
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NTAS – Northern Territory Archive Service
NTGPASS – Northern Territory Government and Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme
NTPFES - Northern Territory Police, Fire and Emergency Services
NTPS – Northern Territory Public Sector
NTWA – Northern Territory Workplace Advocate
OCPE – Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment
OH&S – Occupational Health and Safety
PAB&R – Promotions Appeal Board and Review
PAT – Police Arbitral Tribunal
POAT – Prison Officer Arbitral Tribunal
PSCC - Public Sector Consultative Council
PSEMA – Public Sector Employment and Management Act 
PSM – Public Sector Management
RWDS – Remote Workforce Development Strategy
SWP&D – Strategic Workforce Planning and Development
TCA – Territory Construction Association
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Alice Springs Marketing and  
 Communications

Alice Springs Regional Coordination  
 Committee 

Barkly Regional Coordination Committee

Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary   
 Education HR Committee (BIITE)

Commonwealth Association for Public  
 Administration and Management

DHCS Joint Consultative Council

Government Skills Australia Public Sector  
 Jurisdictional Reference Group

ILO Technical Officers Forum

Information Act inter-departmental  
 committee (advisory group)

Inter-Departmental Committee for  
 Indigenous Economic Development

NTG Chief Financial Officers Forum

NTG Communications and Marketing  
 Group

NTG Information Officers’ Group

NTG Web Group

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Procurement Reference Group

Public Sector Consultative Council

Public Sector IR Forum

Public Sector Management Program Local  
 Group

Remote Workforce Development  
 Committee

Senior Officers Industrial Forum

Strategic Workforce Issues Action Group  
 (Alice Springs HR Group)

Youth Affairs Inter-Departmental Committee

 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Boards and Committees on 
which the OCPE is Represented



We welcome your feedback on the Office of 
the Commissioner for Public Employment 
Annual Report 2006-2007. Your comments 

Please tick the relevant box to indicate how you rate the report.

Excellent Good Satisfactory Poor

Overall impression
Presentation and design
Easy to read and understand
Content/information
Which areas of the report were most useful?
How do you think the report could be improved?
Please indicate where you are from:

NT Government
Education or research institution
Community member or organisation
Federal Government
Industry
Other State or Territory government
Private sector

Does the report contain the information you required? Yes No
If no, please list suggested information to be included in future reports.

Please return your completed feedback sheet either by post, fax or delivery to:
GPO Box 4371
Darwin NT 0801
4th Floor, Harbour View Plaza
8 McMinn Street (cnr Bennett and McMinn Streets)
Darwin NT 0800

Fax: 08 8999 4186

This form is also available online at www.nt.gov.au/ocpe

Feedback Form

and suggestions will be used in the 
development of future reports by the Office of 
the Commissioner for Public Employment.
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�0�Annual Report 2006-2007

Top End
Ground & 4th Floors, Harbour View Plaza
8 McMinn Street (cnr Bennett and McMinn Streets)
Darwin NT 0800

GPO Box 4371
Darwin NT 0801

Telephone: 08 8999 4282

Facsimile: 08 8999 4186

Email: ocpe@nt.gov.au

Web: www.nt.gov.au/ocpe

Central Australia
1st Floor, Greatorex Building
cnr Bath and Parsons Streets
Alice Springs NT 0870

PO Box 8574
Alice Springs NT 0871

Telephone: 08 8951 5785

Facsimile: 08 8951 5788

Email: ocpe@nt.gov.au

Web: www.nt.gov.au/ocpe

How to Contact us
The Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment
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